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“ T beg to state that the County of Glengarry has on every
occasion been distinguished for good conduct, and will on any
emergency turn out more fighting men in proportion to its population
than any other in Her Majesty’s dominions.”—Extract from a letter
from Lieutenant-Colonel Carmichael, Particular Service, to Lieuten-
ant-General Sir James Macdonell, K.C.B., K.C.H., commanding
Brigade of Guards and second in command of Her Majesty’s Furces
in Canada, dated December, 1840.
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To His EXCELLENCY
SIR HUGH MACDONELL, K.C.M.G., C.B,,
H. M. Envoy to the King of Denmark.

My DEAR ABERCHALDER,

It was my intention to have dedicated these little sketches re.

lating principally to the military services of the Glengarry people in
Canada to your brother, General Sir Alexander Macdonell, X.C.B,,
Colonel-Commandant of the 2znd Battalion P.C.0O. Rifle Brigade
but poor Sir Aleck’s recent death rendered it impossible.
"'} His services in the Crimea as A.D.C. to Sir George Brown,
when in command of the Light Division, and where he himself after-
wards commanded the 2nd Battalion of his distinguished Regiment ;
in the Indian Mutiny, where he commanded the 3rd Battalion, as
well as in the campaign on the Northwest Frontier of India, and in
the Expedition against the Mohmund Tribes, which he led, and the
distinctions conferred upon him by his Sovereign, proved his merit
as a soldier, and maintained the record of what was once known in
Scotland as a fighting name.

Your father was (together with his elder brother, who was the
Speaker of the first House of Assembly of this Province) one of the
two first members for the County of Glengarry when what was pre-
viously known as the Upper Country of Canada was erected into a
separate Province and Parliamentary Institutions accorded to it.
He had been, with his father, his brothers and other kinsmen—all
of them holding commissions in the King’s Royal Regiment of New
York and other Loyalist Corps—one of those who had fought
through the Revolutionary War, and who on its termination settled
here, a body of men deservedly held in high esteem by following
generations of Canadians, known ¢ us in Canada as United Em-
pite Loyalists. Colonel Simcoe, who was neminated Lieutenant
Governor of the Province, appointed him to be the first Adjutant-
General of the Militia of Upper Canada; and he was largely instru-
mental in laying the foundation of the Militia system which still
exists. He had served also in command of a Company of the 2nd
Battalion of his brother’s Regiment, the Royal Canadian Volunteer
Regiment of Foot, which tor several years (1796-1802) garrisoned
the posts of this Province, as did the 1st Battalion of the same
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Regiment, under one of the most distinguished of the King’s new
subjects, Lieutenant-Colonel the Baron de Longueuil, that of Lower
Canada during the same period.

His association, therefore, with this Province, and with the
County of Glengarry in particular, could scarcely have been mor€
intimate, while the distinction of his after career in the service of
his Sovereign, under the patronage of his friend and benefactor
H.R.H. the Duke of Kent, was such as to prove a just source of
satisfaction to his relatives and friends who remained on this side of
the Atlantic.

It affords me pleasure, theretore, to dedicate to one of his sons,
whose present position proves that fis own career in the Diplomatic
Service of the country has not been without merit as it has not been
without the recoznition of his Sovereign, and to whose assistance [
have been much indebted in their preparation, these fragments
which relate to matters in which we have a common interest.

I am, my dear Aberchalder,
Faithfully yours,
J. A. MACDONELL.

Glengarry, Canada, August 22nd, 1892.



SKETCHES OF GLENGARRY.

CHAPTER 1.

GLENGARRY IN SCOTLAND.—RESULT oF THE DISARMING, PRO-
SCRIBING AND OTHER ACTS INTRODUCED INTO THE SCOTTISH
LAw.—FOoRMATION OF HIGHLAND REGIMENTS AND EMIGRA-
TION.—A LARGE NUMBER LEAVE GLENGARRY IN SCOTLAND IN
1773 AT THE INSTIGATION OF SIR WILLIAM JOHNSON AND
SETTLE IN THE MOHAWK VALLEY, IN THE PROVINCE OoF NEW
York.—DEATH oF SiR WiLLiam IN 1774.—His SERVICES,
INFLUENCE AND CHARACTER.

In much that has of recent years been written on the very in-
teresting subject of the United Empire Loyalist settlement of this
Province, the War of 1812, ’13, 14, and the Rebellion of 1837-8,
there is but little, if any, mention made of the part which the High-
landers of Glengarry took in the American Revolutionary War of
1776-83, and the early settlement of the country at the close of the
War, its defence in 1812-14, and the suppression of the rebellion.
Others, the York Volunteers in particular, come in for at least their
fair share of credit. Their flags are paraded, and their deeds are
made to speak again after a lapse of many years, and the inference
is given, with painful reiteration, that to them and theirs among the
local forces of the country, is the credit chiefly due on these occa-
sions ; while, in some instances, individuals who never left their pro-
vision shops except to take to the woods when York was a second
time surrendered, and poor Dr. Strachan left to negotiate with the
Americans, would appear to have become of late great military com~
manders of those days—the very saviours of their country, in fact,
in the hour of its utmost need !

I venture the assertion that the County of Glengarry contained
at least as many Loyalist settlers who had fought for the Crown
during the first War as any other of the earliest settled counties, and
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contributed on both the latter occasions more fighting men for the
preservation of the country, its connection with the Mother Land, and
the maintenance of our Institutions, than any other part of the
Province, and this without wishing to detract in the least from the
services of the good burghers of York, or of others, vaunted though
they be. f

I submit it to the judgment of my readers whether I cannot
make that statement good. I shall speak by the record, and shall
give my authorities.

It is of importance, first, to consider the circumstances under
which the County of Glengarry was originally settled, as the settlers
for the most part, previous to the War ot 1812, came to Canada under
circumstances which redound to their credit as loyal and faithful
subjects of the British Crown.

We are now so far removed from the struggles made in Scotland
on behalf of the House of Stuart, that we can recall them dispassion-
ately. Practically, that race is extinct. If represented at all, it is
in the person of our present gracious Sovereign, who, like her immedi-
ate predecessors, has no more loyal subjects than the descendants of
the men who fought with such chivalry for those they recognized as
Kings by the Right Divine. They were unsuccessful in their efforts,
but the history of Great Britain does not contain a more glorious
chapter than that which tells of the struggles of the Highland
Jacobite Chiefs and Clans, and how they poured out their blood like
water for those they called their Kings. The strongest Hanoverian,
the staunchest Orangeman, cannot read what notably Sir Walter
Scott, the Ettrick Shepherd, Edmonstoun Aytoun, as well as the
Scottish ballads, have handed down to us, without admitting—without
any abatement of principle—the devotion and heroism of those who
risked and lost their all.

Conspicuous among the Jacobites were the people of Glengarry.
With other Scottish Cavaliers, they had rallied around Montrose, and
* throughout his campaigns were one of the mainsprings which kept
up the astonishing movements of the chivalrous enterprise ;” (1)
they were foremost among the Highland forces under John Grahame
of Claverhouse, the Viscount of Dundee, and bore the brunt at
Killiecrankie, when that great Leader fell ; in greater number than
almost any other Highland Clan they joined the Earl of Mar in 1715.

(1) Mac Ian's Sketches ; title, ¢ Glengarry.””
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On a later occasion their Chief was selected from amongst the High-
land Chiefs and Noblemen to be the bearer of an address to Prince
Charles Stuart signed with theif blood (1) In 1745 their leaders
were the most trusted adherents of Prince Charles and their men as
brave as the bravest of his soldiers ; they paid the penalty like men
of valour as they were, some in death, others in expatriation, and all,
from the proud Chief to the humblest of the clansmen, in the
devastation of their homes.

“ They stood to the last, and when standing was o’er,
All sullen and silent they dropped the claymore,
And yielded, indignant, their necks to the blow,
Their homes to the flame, and their lands to the foe.”

But the principle of Monarchy was an innate and cardinal
article of their faith, and each succeeding generation has never since
failed to prove it to the House of Guelph when there ceased to be
any question as to the Dynasty.

The result of the Disarming and Proscribing Acts, the Jurisdic-
tion Act, and other alterations adopted into the law of Scotland in
consequence of the long series of conflicts which culminated in
“the ’435,” together with the introduction of the system of sheep-
farming in the Highlands, for which its people were unfitted, and the
abolition of the feudal system of Clanship, which gave way under the
absence of many heads of Clans who were exempted from the Act of
Indemnity of 1747, and the impoverishment of others, was to force a
large number of the Highland people to emigrate, though many
thousands, brought up to the trade of arms, availed themselves of
the opportunity afforded by the genius of Mr. Pitt, afterwards Lord
Chatham, who was then Prime Minister, and entered the military
service of the Crown under the liberal plan devised in 1757, when
Letters of Service were issued for raising the Highland Regiments.
Mr. Fullarton, in his “History of the Highland Clans and Regiments,”
quotes from an anonymous writer, who says :—

“This call to arms was responded to by the Clans, and
Battalion on Battalion were raised in the remotest parts of the
Highlands among those who a few years before were devoted to, and
too long had followed, the Race of Stuart: Frasers, Macdonalds,
Camerons, Macleans, Macphersons and others of disaffected names
and Clans were enrolled ; their Chiefs and conneetions obtained
commissions, and the clansmen, always ready to follow with eager-
ness, endeavored who should be first listed.”

(1) Burke's Dormant and Extinct Peerage ; title, ** Lord Macdonell and Aros.’?
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With what glory to the Nation they acquitted themselves is
matter of history. “To them, under the generalship of Wolfe, is
largely due the fact that Canada is to-day a possession of the British
Crown ; they battled under Hutchinson and Abercrombie, pushed
the French at Aboukir, and bore the brunt of the Turkish cavaliers
at Rosetta,” says Colonel Coffin in his Chronicle of the War of 1812.
Indeed, wherever Great Britain had any fighting to do they were on
hand to do it, and those were days when Britain needed her bravest
and her best. In 1776 the Earl of Chatham was able to utter in
Parliament his famous eulogy on the Highland Regiments :—

“I sought for merit wherever it could be found. It is my boast
that I was the first Minister who looked for it and found it in the
Mountains of the North. I called it forth, and drew into your
service a hardy and intrepid race of men ; men who left by your
jealousy became a prey to the artifices of your enemies, and had
gone nigh to have overturned the State in the War before last.
These men in the last War were brought to combat on your side ;
they served with fidelity as they fought with valor, and conquered
for you in every quarter of the world.”

But at present we have to do with those who emigrated to the
Colonies of the Crown in America. Others were lefi in Glengarry
who, as will be seen hereafter, did as other Highlanders, and en-
rolling themselves under their young Chief, fought as was to be
expected when the opportunity was afforded them. The Emigrants
had naturally looked for peace, and hoped in the new world to repair
the disaster and retrieve the hard fortune of the old, but the time
was not far distant when once more they were to fly to arms and
across the Atlantic assert the principle of the Monarchy, and,
regardless of the Dynasty, fight for George as they had fought for
King James ; once more, “ for Conscience sake, to leave all aside
and still keep true whate’er betide ”—even though for a second time
they should have, as eventually they were obliged, to leave behind
them their homes, which this time they had made for themselves.

It was not long after the last unsuccessful effort had been made
in Scotland on behalf of the House of Stuart, that a number of the
people of Glengarry and Knoydart, under the leadership of several
gentlemen of the Clan, called after the properties of their families in
Scotland : Macdonell of Aberchalder, Leek (or Licks, as I see the
name is spelt in an old map of Scotland), Collachie and Scotas (or
Scothouse)—emigrated to America, settling in what was then called
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Tryon County in the Mohawk Valley, in the Province of New York,
about thirty miles from Albany. The name of the county was, during
the Revolutionary War, in 1784, changed to Montgomery, after the
American General,who was killed at the siege of Quebecin December,
1775, the former appellation having fallen into disfavor owing to the
fact that William Tryon, who had previously been Governor of the
Province of New York, then of Carolina and afterwards of New
York again, was one of the most prominent and devoted Loyalists.
The County, as originally formed, embraced all that part of the
present State of New York lying west of a line running north
.and south nearly through the centre of the present County of
Schoharie. It was divided into five districts, which were again
subdivided into smaller districts or precincts ; the county buildings
being at Johnstown, where was the residence of Sir William Johnson.
The settlement of these Highlanders in that part took place at the
instigation of Sir William, who had acquired a vast property in the
vicinity, and who, having learned the Indian language, studied their
methods and conciliated their regard by long and fair dealing with
them, was possessed of an influence over the Indians, particularly
those of the Six Nations such as no other man had ever enjoyed.
In the war which terminated in the conquest of Canada from the
French, Sir William had taken a most active part, being entrusted
with the command of the provincial troops of New York, and at the
same time being Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs of that
Province. In 1759, he commanded the provincial troops under
Brigadier-General Prideaux in the expedition against Niagara, and on
the death of the latter, succeeded to the command, eventually taking
Niagara, when about 6oc men were made prisoners of war. This
event broke off the communication which the French intended to
establish between Canada and Louisiana. When Amherst embarked
at Oswego in June, 1760, to proceed on the expedition to Canada,
Johnson brought to him at that place 1,000 Indians of the Iroquois,
or Six Nations, which, it is alleged, was the largest number of Indians
ever seen in arms at one time in the cause of Britain. For his
previous signal services in the cause of the King, His Majesty, on
the 27th November, 1755, had been graciously pleased to create him
& Baronet of the United Kingdom, and at the same time conferred
upon him a large pension. (1)

(1) Morgan's Celebrated Canadians,
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From the nature of the pursuits in which Sir William Johnson
was engaged, the then unsettled state of the country, and the fact
that these Highlanders were, like their countrymen of that and pre-
ceding generations, trained to arms from their very infancy, accus-
tomed to hardships and as active as the Indians themselves, it can
easily be conceived that they would prove the most desirable class
of neighbours and allies to Sir William. He did not, however, long
survive. ‘The American historian, Stone, states in his life of Brant :—

“ Sir William Johnson was too observing and sagacious a man
not to note the signs of the times ” (the reference, of course, being
to the impending revolution). ¢ He saw the gathering tempest, and
it is believed to have given him great uneasiness. His sympathies,
according to the testimony of those who knew him, were undoubt-
edly with the people. He was from the body of the people himself,
having been the architect of his own rank and fortunes ; and those
w.o were acquainted with and yet (1832) survive him, represent the
st-uggle in his bosom to have been great between those sympathies
and his own straight principles of liberty on the one hand, and his
daty to his Sovereign on the other—a Sovereign whom he had served
long and faithfully, and who in turn had loaded him with princely
benefactions. His domains-in the Valley of the Mohawk were ex-
tensive ; and his influence through a large number of subordinate
officers and a number of tenantry, was correspondingly great. To
the Indians, not only of the Six Nations, but those far in the West
beyond, who had fallen within the circle of his influence after the
conquest of Canada and the subjugation of Pontiac, he had been a
father and they looked up to him with veneration. Long association
with him and great respect for his character—which for its blunt
honesty, frankness and generosity, not altogether void of that rough
life incident to a border population, was well calculated to secure
the attachment of such people—-had also given to his opinions the
force of Royal authority among the colonists. The population, aside
from the [ndians, was chiefly Dutch in the lower part of Mohawk
Valley, while in the interesting Vale of the Schoharie and in the
upper district of the Mohawk it was composed of the descendants
of the German palitinates who -had been planted there 5o years
bafore. It was not at that time a very intelligent population ; and
the name of Sir William, who had been their friend and companion,
in peace, and their leader in war, like that of the King, was a tower
of strength. It was very natural, therefore, that their opinions upon
the great political questions then agitating the country, should take
their complexion for the most part from those entertained by him.
Hence, when the storm of civil war commenced, the Loyalists in
that Valley were probably more numerous in proportion to the whole
number of the population than in almost any other section of the
Northern Colonies.



“In connection with the troubles which every man of ordinary
sagacity could not but perceive were termenting, Sir William visited
England for the last time in the autumn of 1773, returning in the
succeeding spring. He probably came back with his loyal feelings
somewhat strengthened. It was not his fortune, however, good or
ill, to see the breaking out of the tempest, the near approaches of
which he had been watching with an intentness of observation cor-
responding with the magnitude of his own personal interests, which
must necessarily be involved. He died suddenly, at Johnson Hall,
about the 24th June, 1774.”

He was succeeded in his title and estates by his son, Sir John
Johnson, 2nd Baronet, and in his office of Superintendent General
of Indian Affairs by his son-in-law, Colonel Guy Johnson, who had
long been in office as Assistant Superintendeat, he having for his
deputy Colonel Daniel Claus, who had likewise married a daughter
of Sir William.  Sir John Johnson, on his father’s death, became
Commandant of the Militia of the Province of New York. They
derived great aid in the subsequent administration of affairs, especi-
ally amongst the Indians, from the celebrated Joseph Brant (Thayen-
danegea), who became Secretary to Colonel Guy Johnson, and who
had been much in the service of Sir William during the latter years
of his life ; as also trom his sister, Mary Brant, who was a woman
of singular talent and character, and who was the last wife of Sir
William Johnson, though I believe their marriage had taken place
according to Indian custom only, and may or may not therefore
have been legal. Be that as it may, it was largely instrumental in
secaring their powerful influence to the side of Britain in the long
struggle which then ensued.
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CHAPTER 2.

BrEAKING oUT OF THE REVOLUTIONARY WAR.—THE “ COMMITTEE
OF SAFETY” AT ALBANY WARNED AGAINST SIR JOHN JOHNSON,
AND NOTIFIED THAT THE SCOTCHMEN WERE ARMING.—THE
WHIGS “ DAILY SCANDALIZED, PROVOKED AND THREATENED ” BY
THE LovaL Carnoric HiGHLANDERS.—CORRESPONDENCE BE-
TWEEN SIR JOHN AND GOVERNOR TRYON, AND THE LATTER AND
LorD GEORGE GERMAINE. — GENERAL SCHUYLER, OF THE
REVOLUTIONARY ARMY, INVADES TrRvYON COUNTY.—NEGOTIA-
TIONS BETWEEN HIM AND SIR JoHN AND MR. MACDONELL
(CorLLacHIE).—SIR JOHN AND THE HIGHLANDERS ESCAPE TO
CANADA.—LADY JOHNSON TAKEN PRISONER.—HER LETTER TO
GENERAL WASHINGTON.

At the time of the arrival and settlement of the Glengarry
people in the Mohawk Valley, affairs in America were, then, in a very
unsettled condition. In order to meet -the military expenditure
therein, the British Parliament had a short time previously imposed
a stamp duty on all legal documents. This was met with a denial
on the part of the discontented colonists of the right of the Imperial
Legislature to impose taxes upon them without their consent. The
Stamp Act was repealed the year following its enactment, but it was
coatended that the principle of taxation without representation was
maintained by a light duty of three pence per pound which was
placed on tea—one fourth of that paid in England at the time—
and nominal duties on other articles. On the 16th December, 1773,
occurred in Boston Harbour that episode which Mr. Erastus Wiman
has lately designated as the “ Boston tea party,” when a number of
persons disguised as Indians threw into the harbour from the East
India vessels some three hundred and forty chests of tea. The port
of Boston was thereupon closed, and troops sent to enforce sub-
mission.

A “Continental Congress ” was then decided upon and convened
at Philadzlphia in September, 1774, and an effort- made to induce
the people of Canada, who had but lately passed under British rule,



13

to join in it by sending representatives. “The Quebec Act” which
was then in contemplation, however, and the principles of which
were known to the King’s New Subjects, fully satisfied the French
Canadians, guaranteeing to them as it did their own laws, language
and customs, and they tacitly declined to participate in the proposed
Congress, although some sons of sedition within the Province en-
deavoured to stir up their fellow countrymen to hostility against the
form of government, and went to the expense of translating, printing
and circulating the letter sent to them by the promoters of the
Continental Congress. (1)

In April, 1775, occurred the first collision between the armed
Colonists and the soldiers of the King, and throughout the Thirteen
Colonies measures were taken with a view to procuring their ultimate
independence.

On the 18th of May the Provincial Committee of the Palitinate
District or State of New York addressed the “ Committee of Safety »
at Albany, stating that the Johnsons and thcir powerful allies in the
Mohawk District, had succeeded by threats, intimidation and an
array of military strength, in preventing any open adoption of a de-
claration approving of the proceedings of the Continental Congress.
Says the Palitinate Committee :—

&

“This County has for a series of years been ruled by one
family, the several branches of which are still strenuous in dissuading
the people from coming into Congressional measures, and have, even
last week, at a numerous meeting of the Mohawk District, appeared
with all their dependents armed, to oppose the people considering
of their grievances ; their number being so large and the people
unarmed, that they struck terror into most of them, and they dis-
persed.”

Mr. Stone adds that :—

“The Committee further notified their friends in Albany that
Sir John Johnson was fortifying the Baronial Hall by planting several
swivels around it ; and he had paraded part of the Regiment of
Militia which he commanded on the day previous for the purpose of
intimidation, as it was conjectured. It was likewise reported that
the Scotch Highlanders, settled in large numbers in and about
Johnstown, who were Roman Catholics, had armed themselves to
the number of 150, ready to aid in the suppression of any popular
outbreak in favour of the growing cause of liberty. (2)

During the course of the summer, the tension became stronger.

(1) Sir Guy Carleton to Earl Dartmouth, April 6, 1775,
(2) Volume 1, page s54.
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The Dutch or German settlers divided in their allegiance, Mr. Stone
stating that the majority of them declared themselves as Whigs, as
the American sympathizers were called—the Loyalists being termed
by the Revolutionists, Tories. The first shot in the war West of the
Hudson was fired when the Loyalist Sheriff of the County arrested
a Whig named John Fonda, at whom he fired when he resisted
arrest. It was immediately returned by the discharge of a number
of firelocks of the rebels at the Sheriff, which, however, were not
very deadly, as the only effect was a slight wound in his breast.
The doors of the house were broken, and an effort made to seize
the Sheriff, when a gun was fired at the hall by Sir John. ¢ This
was known to be a signal for his retainers and Scotch partisans to
rally to arms, and as they would muster 500 men in a very short
time, the Whigs thought it more prudent to disperse.” (Stone).

From this out, the relations of the neigbours to each other
became more and more strained. The Loyalists threw every impe-
diment in the way of the Committee, and no method of embarrassing
them was left untried ; they called public meetings themselves, and
chose counter-committees, covered the Whig Committees with ridicule,
and charged them, most properly, with illegal and tyrannical conduct
—the consequence being mutual exasperation between near neigh-
bours, and the reciprocal engendering of hostile feelings between
friends, who ranged themselves under opposing banners. These
incipient ncighborhood quarrels occasioned, in the progress of the
contest which ensued, some of the most bitter and bloody conflicts
that ever marked the annals of Civil War.

On the 7th September, 1775, the Whig Committee wrote the
Provincial Congress in New York, denouncing the conduct of Sir
John Johnson, and that of his associates—particularly the High-
landers, who, to the number of 200, were said to be gathered about
him, and by whom the Whigs “were daily scandalized, provoked
and threatened.”

It appears that from the following correspondence in January,
1776, Sir John and the Highlanders took active preliminary steps
towards armed resistance to the Congressional authorities :—

GOVERNOR TRYON TO LORD GEORGE GERMAINE.

“On board H.M.S. Duchess of Gordon,
« New York Harbour, 3rd January, 1776.
“ My LoRD,
“ The gentleman who delivered me the enclosed letter from Sir
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John Johnson, assured me that by Government complying with its
contents Sir John could muster five hundred Indians to support the
cause of Government, and that these with a body of regulars might
retake the forts. If Sir John had the title of Superintendent of In-
dian Affairs itwould give the greatest weight to His Majesty’s Indian
affairs, the Indians having the greatest affection for the son of their
late benefactor. I wish Your Lordship may think as favourably of
Sir John’s proposals as I do. &ec., &e.”

{Enclosure in the above.}

SIR JOHN JOHNSON TO GOVERNOR TRYON.
“ SIR,

1 hope the occasion and intention of this letter may plead my
excuse for the liberty I take in introducing to Your Excellency the
bearer hereof, Mr. Allan Macdonell, who will inform you of many
particulars which cannot at this time be safely communicated in
writing. The distracted and convulsed state that this unhappy
country is now worked up to, and the situation that I am in here,
together with the many obligations that our family are under to the
best of Sovereigns, induce me to fall upon a plan that may, I hope
be of service to the country, the propriety of which I entirely submit
to Your Excellency’s better judgment, depending on the friendship
which you have been pleased to honour me with, for your advice on,
and representation to, His Majesty, of what I propose.

“ Having consulted with all my friends in this quarter, among
whom are many old and good ofticers, I have come to the resolution
of forming a Battalion, and have named all the officers, most of
whom have a good deal of interest in their respective neighborhoods,
and have seen a great number of men ready to complete the plan.
We must, however, not think of stirring until support and supplies
of many necessaries to enable us to carry our design into execution
are received—of all which Mr. Macdonell will inform Your Excel-
lency.

“T make not the least doubt of the success of this plan should
we be supported in time. As to news, I must beg leave to refer you
to Mr. Macdonell, who will inform you of everything that has been
done in Canada that has come to our knowledge. As I find by the
papers you are soon to sail for England, I despair of having the
pleasure of paying my respects to you, but most sincerely wish you
an agreeable voyage and a happy sight of your family and friends.

“TIam, Your Excellency’s
“Most obedient, humble servant,
“ JoHN JOHNSON.”

Doubtless the organization and other preparations indicated in
the above letter, some knowledge of which must have transpired,
induced Congress in the same month to direct the expedition into



16

Tryon County of General Schuyler of the Revolutionary Army, the
forces under his command numbering some 3,000 men. He ad-
dressed a letter to Sir John Johnson from Schenectady, requesting
an interview, and pledging his word of honour that he and the offi-
cers with him would come and go in safety. Sir John, attended by
several of his leading friends among the Scotchmen, and two or three
others, met him about sixteen miles from Schenectady. Negotia-
tions were then entered upon in writing between General Schuyler
on the one part and Sir John and Mr. Allan Macdonell (Collachie),
as representing the Highlanders, on the other. The fourth article
of the terms offered by General Schuyler was as follows :

“ That the Scotch inhabitants of the said County shall, without
any kind of exception, immediately deliver up all arms in their pos-
session, of what kind soever they may be ; and that they shall each
solemnly promise that they will not at any time hereafter, during the
continuance of this unhappy contest, take up arms without the per-
mission of the Continental Congress or of their General Officers ;
and for the more faithful performance of this article, the General
insists that they shall immediately deliver up to him six hostages of
his own nomniation.”

Sir John having answered the written offer of terms, agreeing to
deliver up their arms, but as to the fourth article declining on the
part of the Scotch inhabitants to give hostages—no one man having
command over another, or power sufficient to deliver such—General
Schuyler declared the answer to his terms to be wholly unsatisfactory,
and required immediate compliance with his demands in all respects
before midnight. Sir John Johnson is alleged by the Americans then to
have given his parole of honour not to take up arms against America.
General Schuyler was to be at liberty to take away six of the Scotch
inhabitants prisoners, without resistance, the others all to surrender
their arms ; the six prisoners to be maintained agreeable to their
respective ranks ; to be allowed a few days to settle their private
affairs, and, being gentlemen, to wear their side arms.

« Fifth : Neither Sir John Johnson nor the Scotch gentlemen can
make any engagement for any other persons than those over whom
they may have influence. They give their word and honour that, so
far as depends on them, the inhabitants shall give up their arms and
enter into the like engagement as the Scotch inhabitants.”

To this General Schuyler agreed, stating that he would take six
of the Scotch inhabitants prisoners, since they preferred it to going

as hostages, and undertaking on behalf of Congress to pay all defer-
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ence due to their rank, they to be confined for the present either at
Reading or Lancaster in Pennsylvania. They were eventually sent
to the latter place, Mr. Allan Macdonell being one of the prisoners.
On the same afternoon Sir John delivered up the arms and ammuni-
tion in his possession, Mr. Stone naively remarking that the quantity
of both was much smaller than was expected :

“On Saturday, the 2oth, General Schuyler paraded his troops
at noon to receive the arms of the Highlanders, who to the number
of two or three hundred, marched to the front and grounded their
arms.  These having been secured, the Scotchmen were dismissed
with an exhortation to remain peaceable, and with an assurance of
protection if they did. (1)

The American authors allege that Sir John Johnson did not
observe the compact of neutrality, nor the obligations of his parole,
and further that General Schuyler was in receipt of information con-
vincing him that Sir John was secretly instigating the Indians to
hostilities. “ To prevent such a calamity,” says Mr. Stone, “it was
thought advisable to secure the person of Sir John, and once more
to quell the rising spirit of disaffection in the neighborhood of Johns-
town, especially among the Highlanders,” and in June following the
events already narrated, Colonel Dayton, with a part of his regiment
then on its way to Canada, was despatched by General Schuyler ot
prosecute the enterprise. SirJohn, however, was warned in time of
the proceedings of the enemy, and hastily collecting his friends,
made his way to Canada, arriving after nineteen days of severe
hardships at Montreal, ““ having encountered all the sufferings that it
seemed possible for man to eadure.” Mr. Sparks, in his life of
Washington, states that Lady Johason was removed to Albany, where
she was retained, but without any particular result, except the indig-
nity offered to a gentlewoman of high station and in a delicate state
of health, as a kind of hostage for the peaceable conduct of her
husband.

Lady Johnson was a daughter of the Honourable John Watts,
for some time President of the Council of New York, and a first
cousin once removed of General Schuyler, to whom she had so deep
an aversion, as appears from the following letter of hers addressed
to General Washington, apprising him of her being taken prisoner :
“Sig, “ ALpany, June 16, 1776.

*“ I ake the liberty of complaining to you, as it is from you I

(1) Stone, page 142.
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expect redress. I was compelled to leave home, much against my
inclination, and am detained here by General Schuyler, who, I am
convinced, acts more out of ill nature to Sir John than for any rea-
son that he or I have given him. As Iam not allowed to return
home, and my situation here made as disagreeable as it can be by
repeated threats and messages from General Schuyler too indelicate
and cruel to be expected from a gentleman, I should wish to be
with my friends at New York, and would prefer my captivity under
Your Excellency’s protection to being in the power of General
Schuyler, who rules with more severity than could be wished by
Your Excellency’s
“ Humble Servant,

“ M. JOHNSON.
« To His Excellency General Washington.”

Lady Johnson was obliged, however, to remain at Albany for
six months longer before she was allowed to proceed to New York.

Sir John and Lady Johnson had been married in New York in
1773. She died at Montreal in 1815.
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CHAPTER 8.

FormaTioN oF THE King’s RovaL REGIMENT oF NEw YORK UNDER
"SIR Jon~N JOHNSON.—IT IS PLACED ON THE ESTABLISHMENT.—
A SecoND BATTALION AUTHORIZED.—LIST OF GLENGARRY
GENLEMEN TO WHOM COMMISSIONS WERE GRANTED IN THAT
AND OTHER LovaLisST CoRrPS. — ARREST OF WIVES AND
FawmiLies oF THE HIGHLAND LOVALISTS.— RETRIBUTION.—THE
VALLEY OF THE MOHAWK RENDERED “A SCENE OF WIDESPREAD,
HEART SICKENING AND UNIVERSAL DESOLATION.”—BATTLE OF
OR1SKANY.—DR. M0SES YOUNGLOVE’S ALLEGED “ BRUTALITIES.”
-~ HIGHLANDERS RESCUE THEIR FAMILIES.— CAPTURE OF
ExrETER AND ForRT WINTERMOOT BY BUTLER'S RANGERS.—
AMERICANS ABANDON ForRT WyoMING.— HIGHLANDERS MAKE
ANOTHER INCURSION INTO THE SCOHARIE SETTLEMENT.

The arrival of Sir John Johnson and his Highland followers
in Canada was communicated by the Governor General, Sir Guy
Carleton, to Lord George Germaine, then Secretary of State for
American and Colonial Affairs, as follows :—

“ CHAMBLIE, 8 JuLy, 1776.
“ My Lorp, -

“The day after His Majesty’s Troops took possession of Mont-
real, and the communication with the Upper Country thereby became
open, Sir John Johnson and about two hundred followers arrived
there from the Province of New York. He represents to me that
there are .considerable numbers of people in the part of the
country he comes from who remain steadily attached to His Majesty’s
Government, and who would take up arms in its defence had they
sufficient encouragement ; on which account, in the meantime, they
suffer all the miseries that the persecuting spirit of the Rebels is able
to inflict upon them.

“ In consequence of this representation, and taking it for grant-
ed that the King’s pleasure is not only to furnish all his good and
loyal subjects with the means of defending themselves against rapine
and violence, but further to grant them all possible assistance, I have
therefore given Sir John Johnson a Commission to raise on that
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Frontier of this Province a Battalion of men (to be called the King’s
Royal Regiment of New York) of equal numbers with other of His
Majesty’s marching Regiments serving in America, and I have
appointed him Lieutenant-Colonel Commandant thereof.
¢« am, with all due respect,
“ My Lord,
«Your Lordship’s Most Obedient and Most Humble Servant,

“ Guy CARLETON.
« Lord George Germaine.”

The Deputy Adjutant-General in his letter to Sir John John-
son authorizing the tormation of the Regiment, instructed him that
“the officers of the new Corps were to be divided so as to assist those
distressed by the Rebellion,(1) and in order to provide against an abuse F
then common in the Service, but which it was considered undesirable
to transplant, it was intimated ¢ that there were to be no pluralities
of officers in the Corps.” It was soon placed on an efficient footing,
as on the 13th January, 1777, Sir Guy wrote to General Phillips,
applauding the spirit of the Royal Regiment of New York, and sug-
gesting arrangements for the care of refugees with the Corps, many
of the Loyalists having placed themselves under its protection, of
whom- in December, 1776, a large contingent had arrived from New
York under the Messieurs Jessup, doubtless the same body of men
subsequently embodied under Major Jessup, and known as the
Loyal Rangers, who, on being disbanded on the close of the war,
settled in the vicinity of what is now Brockville. On the 24th March,
1777, Lord George Germaine wrote from Whitehall, London, to Sir
Guy Carleton that he had received notice of Sir John Johnson’s
arrival in Montreal, that the distress and loyalty of the people in that
part of the country from which he came justified the raising of a Bat-
talion there, and that the King approved of it and of Sir John John-
son having been placed in command. (2) In July, 1780, authority
was given to Sir John to raise a second Battalion, which was done
with expedition, as on the 28th November General Haldimand wrote
Lord George Germaine, highly commending the conduct of Sir John
Johnson, and stating that the second Battalion was in a forward
state. In the following year, Lord George Germaine announced
that the Regiment had been placed on the Establishment

(1) Haldimand Col'ection, B 39, p 170
(=) 1bid, B38,p s.
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of the British Army, and referred in complimentary terms
to the conduct of Sir John Johnson. It had previously
been settled, and Sir Henry Clinton informed, that officers of
Provincial Corps were to take rank with British officers of the
Regular Army, to receive gratuities for wounds, and to hold perman-
ent rank in America.

This Regiment is commonly referred to by the American writers
Sparks, Stone, Sebine and others, as well as by Dr. Canniff, as
«The Royal Greens,” possibly because their facings may have been
of that colour. Sir John Johnson, its Colonel Commandant, was
appointed by General Order of 1st October, 1782, Brigadier-General
of the King’s Provincial Troops, with Captain Scott, 53rd Regiment,
as his Major of Brigade (1), a just tribute to himself, and a mark of
distinction to the Regiment which he commanded. Many interest-
ing particulars relating to this Regiment will be found in Judge
Pringle’s most valuable book, “ Lunenburg, or the Old Eastern Dis-
trict,” pp. 172-83. Many of his relatives, as well as those of his wife,
.served in the Royal Regiment of New York with honour to them-
selves and advantage to the Loyal cause.

In this Regiment, Butler’s Rangers—which also was largely
composed of Loyalists from the Mohawk Valley, and was command-
ed by Colonel John Butler, who greatly distinguished himself during
the War—and the Eighty-Fourth or Royal Highland Emigrant Regi-
ment also then raised, the Highland gentlemen who had emigrated
from Glengarry in 1773, and settled, as”we have seen, in Tryon
County, received commissions and the men enlisted. On the ter-
mination of the War and the reduction of these Regiments, returns
were made of the officers of these Corps and other Regiments, copies
of which are now amongst the Archives dt Ottawa, and from them I
take the following list of the Scottish officers who had come from
Glengarry in Scotland. I think it will be admitted that it is a toler-
ably fair one. It shows more gentlemen of one name than of all the
names of those well known and distinguished families in the early
settlement and history of the Province, who afterwards comprised
the Family Compact, combined. Should anyone feel disposed to
dispute this statement of a historic fact the lists are there to speak for
themselves. Many of them eventually settled in Glengarry in Canada

(1) Haldimand C ollection, B 43, p. 64«
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and gave the name to the County; several of them afterwards
representing it when Parliamentary institutions were accorded to the

Province.

The number of the private soldiers of the same name

was in proportion to the officers, as a glance at Lord Dorchester’s

Tist will

show.

The following is a list of Officers, with rank, name,

place of nativity, length of service, and remarks, as follows :—

FIRST BATTALION KING'S ROYAL REGIMENT OF NEW YORK.

Place of
Rank. Name. Nativity |Service Remarks.
Captain{Alexander Macdon- Scotland |8 years|zo0 acres of land in fee
ell (Aberchalder) simple, under Sir John
Johnson, at yearly an-
nual rent of £6 per 10o0.
Captain' Angus Macdonell |Scotland |25 yrs |Ensign in 6oth Regt.,
8th July, 176¢ ; Lieut. in
do. Dec. 27, 1770;so0ld
out on account of bad
health, May 22, 1775.
Had no lands.
Captain|John Macdonell |Scotland (8 years|Had landed property,
(Scotas) soo acres, purchased
and began to improve
in April, 1774.
Captain|Archibald Macdon- Scotland (8 years|Merchant; had no lands
ell (Leek)
Captain|Allan Macdonell - |Scotland '8 years{Held 200 acres in fee
Lieut.| (Leek) simple under Sir John
at £6 per 100 acres.
Lieut. |Hugh Macdonell [Scotland |7 years|Son of Captain Mac-
(Aberchalder) donell.
Ensign |Miles Macdonell [Scotland |3 years|Son of Captain John
(Scotas) Macdonell.

SECOND BATTALION KING’S ROYAL REGIMENT OF NEW YORK.

Captain|James Macdonell [Scotland |8 years| Held — acres in fee
simple under Sir John
at £6 per 100 acres.

Lieut. |Ranald Macdonell|Scotland |3 years|Farmer.

(Leek)
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CORPS OF BUTLER’S RANGERS, COMMANDED BY LIEUTENANT-
COLONEL JOHN BUTLER.

Place of
Rank. Name. Nativity Service Remarks.
Captain|John Macdonell Inverneng years Came to America with
(Aberchalder) |-shire, his father and other
Scotland Highland Emigrants in

{1773, settled 1 Tryon
(County, near Johns+
’town, n the Province
lof New York ; entered
'His Majesty’s Service
'as a Subaltern Officer
June 14, 1775, in the
84th or Royal High=
land Emigrants.

First |AlexanderMacdon-Inverness|y years Came to America with
Lieut. ell (Collachie) -shire, his father and other
Scotland Highland Emigrants in
1773, settled in Tryon
County, near Johns-
town, in the Province
of New York ; entered
His Majesty’s Service
as a Volunteer in the
84th or Royal High-
land Emigrants.

Second |ChichesterMacdon Inverness'6 years Came to America with
Lieut. | ell (Aberchalder) -shire, his father and other
[Scotland Highland Emigrants in
1773, and settled near
Johnstown ;  entered
His Majesty’s Service
as a Volunteer in the

King’s Royal Regiment
of New York in the
year 1778.
EIGHTY-FOURTH OR ROYAL HIGHLAND EMIGRANT REGIMENT.
Captain/Allan Macdonell Prisoner at Lancaster
(Collachie) in Pennsylvania.
Lieut. |Ranald Macdonell 40 yr18
Lieut. JArch’d. Macdonell 8 years

SEVENTY FIRST REGIMENT.
Lieut. | Angus Macdonell | | |




24

In giving the prominence that I do to the above gentlemen of
this name, I am far from wishing it to be understood that they and
those of their name were the only Highland United Empire Loyalists
who settled in the Mohawk Valley and other parts of the United
States, and, having fought through the war, on its termination took
up their abode in what is now Glengarry. Far fromit. 'The names
of those above mentioned are conspicious and easily distinguished
and identified by reason of the fact of their having held commissions,
and on that account of more prominence than others of equal merit,
and who made equal sacrifices, but who served either as non-
commissioned officers or in the ranks, and where names are not,
therelore, now distinguishable one from another.

The figures given hereafter will show that while other Scottish
Clans were represented among these most deserving men, there were
so many nrore from Glengarry in Scotland than from any other part
of it, that it canmot e matter of surprise that among them were
many men whose position and other qualifications entitled them to
commissions in the Reginents raised. The fact is, that while from
other parts there had been individuals who had emigrated before the
breaking out of the War, from Giengarry there had come a very
considerable portion of the Clan, all at one time, settling in the same
place, of the same name and religious and political faith, and at their
head many persons of station and education, and all, without a
solitary exception, taking up arms in defence of a principle binding
upon their consciences, and in defence of which they were bound, if
necessary, to die. So large, indeed, was the proportion of the Glen-
garry people in comparison with others that to that fact is due
undoubtedly, the name given to the County. And that alone, if no
other reason existed, would constitute a sufficient one for the mention
of these names. I have, however, gone most carefully over Lord
Dorchester’s list and other sources of information, and the only other
names of Commissioned Officers that I can find who settled in
Glengarry are those of Major Gray, Lieutenants Satherland and
McMartin, of the King’s Royal Regiment of New York ; the Rev.

Mr. Bethune, Chaplain of the Eighty-Fourth Regiment. and Captain .

Wilkinson,- of the Indian Branch of the Seivice. There were, of
course, many commissionad officers of other Scottish names, but
they did not settle in Glengarry. Of the Frasers, for instance, there
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were four, but all of them settled in the neighborhood of what is how
Brockville.

It is also to be understood that of those mentioned above, sev-
eral settled in Stormont and Duandas, and one in the County of
Prince Edward, though the majority of them were identified with
Glengarry, and, as I think the sequel will shew, ser\ved it and its
people with sufficient fidelity and distinction to warrant the tribute
paid to their memory by the mention of their name.

Such of the Scotch Loyalists as yet remained in Tryon County
shortly afterwards left, Mr. Stone stating that early in the month of
May, 1777 :

“The residue of the Roman Catholic Scotch settlers in the
neighborhood of Johnstown ran off to Canada, together with some of
the Loyalist Germans, all headed by two men named McDonell, who
had been permitted by General Schuyler to visit their families. The
fact that the wives and families of the absconding Loyalists were
holding communication with them and administering to their subsist-
ence on the outskirts of the settlements, had suggested their arrest
and removal to a place of safety, to the number of four hundred—a
measure that was approved by General Herkimer and his officers.”

Such treatment of women and children, however, was scarcely
calculated to placate the Loyalists,

I could not attempt, within the limits T have laid down for my
narrative, to enter at any length into the various events of the Revo-
lutionary War, or to narrate at all circumstantially, even, those
relating to the engagements in which Sir John Johnson and his Regi-
ment—wlich, on its disbandment, principally contributed from
among its officers and men the first settlers of our County, and has
therefore for us the most interest—svere engaged. This Regiment,
with Butler's Rangers, and the Indians under Brant, harassed time
and time again the northern part of New York, and that part of the
State west of Albany, especially the Mohawk Valley, as well as
Pennsylvania. They were evidently bound to havé it out with their
former neighbours, whom they regarded not only as traitors to the
Sovereign, but doubtless also as the immediate cause of all the mis-
fortunes which had fallen to their lot—the loss of home, severance
for years from kindred, imprisonment of friends, and death of others,
personal indignities, with hardships, persecution and suffering un-
speakable. Mr. Stone declares that :—

“ No other section or district of country in the United States,
of the like extent, suffered in any comparable degree as much from
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the War of the Revolution as did the Mohawk ; for month after
month, for seven long years, were 1its towns and villages, its humbler
settlements and isolated habitations, fallen upon by an untiring and
relentless enemy, until, at the close of the contest, the appearance
of the whole district was that of widespread, heart-sickening and
universal desolation. In no other section of the Confederacy were
so many campaigns performed, so many battles fought, so many
dwellings burnt, or so many murders committed. Those who were
left at the return of peace were literally a people ‘scattered and
peeled” It was the computation, two years before the close of the
War, that one-third of the population had gone over to the enemy ; (1)
that one-third had been driven from the country or slain in battle
and by private assassinations, and yet among the inhabitants of the
other remaining third, in June, 1783, it was stated at a public meet-
ing held at Fort Plain, that there were three hundred widows and
two thousand orphan children.”

It was the Loyalist soldiers of these Regiments principally who
under Colonel St. Leger, fought and won the Battle of Oriskany,
on the 6th July, 1777, which was one of the severest, and, for the
numbers engaged, one of the most bloody Battles of the Revolution.
In his despatch to General Bourgoyne, Colonel St. Leger stated that
four hundred of the Americans were killed, amongst whom were almost
all the principal leaders of Rebellion in that part of the country, in-
cluding their Commander, General Herkimer, who was a brave and
distinguished Officer, with Colonels Cox. Seeber, Paris and others,
while upwards of two hundred of them were taken prisoners. The
British loss was also severe, falling principally on Sir John Johnson’s
and Butler’s corps.  St. Leger did not state the number of his own
killed and wounded. Mr. Stone claims that their loss was as serious
as that of the Americans, but the statement does not appear to be
borne out by the facts. One of the many Macdonells, a Captain in
the Royal Regiment of New York, was killed, and two of his brother
officers desperately wounded, and Captains Wilson and Hare, of
Butler’s Rangers, killed. The Americans allege that the ¢ Indians
and Tories” behaved on this occasion with great cruelty to their
prisoners, but to show the character of the evidence upon which they
base so grave a charge, it is only necessary to give a specimen and
to bear in mind that the maker of the affidavit is vouched for by

(1) That is, that they had adhered to the Sovereign. Mr. Stone speaks, of course, as an
Americis | That he was an able historian is_unquestionable, but his prejudices are apparent
throughout his work, though his facts are doubtless, in the main, correct.
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their historians as being “a respectable man, incapable of any
designed misstatements of facts ! (1) :—

“ Moses Younglove, Surgeon of General Herkimer’s Brigade of
Militia, deposeth and saith : That being in the Battle of said
Militia above Oriskany on the 6th of August last, towards the close
of said Battle he surrendered himself g prisoner to a savage, who
immediately gave him up to a Sergeant of Sir John Johnson’s Regi-
ment ; soon after which, a Lieutenant in the Indian Department
came up, in company with several other Tories, when said Mr.
Grinnis by name, drew his tomahawk at this deponent, and with a
deal of persuasion was hardly prevailed on to spare his life. He
then plundered him of his watch, buckles, spurs, &ec. ; and other
Tories, following his example, stripped him almost naked with a
great many threats, while they were stripping and massacring pri-
soners on every side. That this deponent, on being brought before
Mr. Butler, Sr., who demanded of him what he was fighting for, to
which this deponent answered, ¢ he fought for the liberty that God
and nature gave him, and to defend himself and dearest connections
from the massacre of savages.’” To which Butler replied, ¢ You are a
damned impudent rebel;’ and so saying, immediately turned to the
savages, encouraging them to kill him, and if they did not, the
deponent and the other prisoners should be hanged on a gallows
then preparing. That several prisoners were then taken forward
toward the enemy’s headquarters, with frequent scenes of horror and
massacre, in which Tories were active as well as savages ; and, in
particular, one Davis, formerly known in Tryon County on the
Mohawk River ; that Lieutenant” Singleton, of Sir John Johnson’s
Regiment, being wounded, entreated the savages to kill the prisoners,
which they accordingly did, as nigh as this deponent can judge,
s1x or seven.” |

“ That Isaac Paris, Esq., was also taken the same road, without
receiving from them any remarkable insults, except stripping, until
some Tories came up, who kicked and abused him ; after which the
savages, thinking him a notable offender, murdered him barbarously;
that those prisoners who were delivered up to the Provost Guards,
were kept without victuals for many days, and had neither clothes,
blankets, shelter nor fire ; while the guards were ordered not to use
any violence in protecting the prisoners from the savages, who came
every day in large companies with knives, feeling the prisoners, to
know who were fattest ; that they dragged one of the prisoners out
of the guard with the most lamentable cries, tortured him for a long
time, and this deponent was informed, by both Tories and Indians,
that they ate him, as appears they did another on an island in Lake
Ontario, by bones found there nearly picked, just after they had
crossed the lake with the prisoners ; that the prisoners who

L4

(1) Stone, Volume 1, Appendix XXXI1I1.
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wers not delivered up were murdered in considerable numbers from
day to day round the camp, some of them so nigh that their shrieks
were heard ; that Captain Martin, of the batteaux-men, was delivered
to the Indians at Oswego, on the pretence of having kept back some
useful intelligence ; that this deponent during his imprisonment, and
his fellows, were kept almost starved for provisions, and what they drew
were of the worst kind, such as spoilt pork, biscuit full of maggots
and mouldy, and no soap allowed, or other method of keeping clean ;
and were insulted, struck, &c., without mercy by the guards, without
any provocation given ; that this deponent was informed by several

Scigeants, orderly on General St. Leger, that twenty dollars were
offered in general orders for every American scalp.”

There can be littie doubt but that on both sides there was much
done that cannot be reconciled with the methods of modern warfare,
but such apparent falsehoods as those to which this “ reputable ” Dr.
Younglove deposed under oath bear their own refutation on their
face. Even as late as the War of 1812, it was a favourite ailegation
of theirs that our Indians were encouraged to scalp, while it was
proved beyond a shadow of a doubt(1) that the first scalp of the War
was taken by an Amrerican——an Officer at that—who boasted of it i
a letter written to his wife which was found in his pocket when he
was killed a day or two later. (2)

Even at this very time, Generai Arnold, (3) then in command of
their forces in this district, concladed a proclamation with the omin-
ous assertion that if the Loyalists, “ blind to their own interest and
safety, obstinately persist in their wicked courses, determined to draw

(1) James, Volume L., 59-62.
(2) This shocking operation was performed by a circular incision being made upon the crown

of the head «f about three inches or more in diameter, according to the length of the hair. The
foot of the operator was then placed on the neck or badv of the victim, and the sclp or tuft of
skin and haiv torn fr-m the skull by strength of arm. In case the hair was so short as not to
admit of betng grasped by the hand, the artist first with his knife turning up one edge of the
circle, applied his teeth to the part, and by that means gnite as effectually disengaged the scalp.
In order to preser: e the interesting relic, it was then stretched and dried upon a small osier hoop.
It would be well for the civilization of America had this terrible indignity only have been perpe-
trated by the savages on their victims, but history records the fact that the brave Tecumseth,
distinzuished above all Indians for his humanity, was himself scilped after the Battle of the
Thames : Moravian Town), in October, 1813, by some of the Kentucky soldiers. The admission,
quoted by Mr. James in his ““ Military Occurrences of the War,” is made in © Burdick’s Politizal
and Historical Registcr,” prge 84: *“ Some of the Kentuckians disgraced themselves by ¢ murit-
ting indignities on, his (Tecumseth’s: dead boly. He was sca'pad and otherwise disfigured.”
The truth being, as stated by Mr. James, that his body was flayed and the skin cut. into strips
which were carcful'y treasured as “trophies ” by these inhuman wretches,

(3" The first mention of this name, the most infamous in the ‘annals of America, that I am
able to find is in « despatch from Sir Guy Carleton to Lord Dartmouth of 7th June, 17750 ¢ Hazen
brings word that Benedict Arnold. a native of ( onnecticut and a horse jockey, has surgri:ed the
detachme: t at ~t. John’s, seized the King's sloop, batterux »n: military stoves, and carried them
o with the prisoner&”  The war being aver and his mcachery accomplished, firg to the King,
whose s biect he was, and then to the Continerital Government. which he served but to betray,
the following is extracted from Lord Norchester’s List of Names of United Empire Loyalists :
* Arnold, General Benedict,” “ Armold, Lieatenant Hen'y,” wih this emphatic word follow-
inz their respective names, “ Expunged.’”” The soit of Upper ('anada was not to be desecrated
by sucn as Benedict Arnold or his son.
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on themselves the just vengeance of Heaven and this exasperated
country, they must expect no mercy from either,” and they certainly
received but little from the latter. Our neighbours must explain
away Sullivan’s devastation of the Seneca and Six Nation country
undertaken by the direction of their Commander-in-chief, “ to cut off
their settlements, destroy their corps, and inflict upon them every
other mischief which time and circumstances would permit ”(1) before
they can accuse the British of being the sole participants in the
cruelties which made this War an ever memorable one.

Again in June, 1778, a number of the Loyalists who had gone
to Canada with Sir John Johnson performed what Mr. Stone states
was a most bold and remarkable exploit, which naturally suggests
the enquiry where were the Whigs of Tryon County at the time, and
in what were they engaged ?

“The incident to which reference is had was the return of those
self-same Loyalists for their tamilies, whom they were permitted to
collect together, and with whom they were suffered to depart into the
country and active service of the enemy. Nor was this all ; not
only was no opposition made to their proceedings, but on their way
they actually committed acts of flagrant hostility, destroyed property
and took several prisoners. Having completed their arrangements,
they moved northward from Fort Hunter, through Fonda’s bush,
making four prisoners on their way thither, and at Fonda’s bush five
others. From this place they procéeded across the great marsh to
Sir William Johnson’s fish-house, on the Sacondaga, capturing a
man named Martin on the way, and at the fish-house taking a brave
fellow named Solomon Woodworth and four others. They burnt the
house and outbuildings of Godfrey Shew at this place, and departed
with their prisoners. Embarking on the Sacondaga in light canoes,
previously moored at that place for the purpose, they descended
twenty-five miles to the Hudson, and thence, by the way of Lakes
George and Champlain, proceeded to St. Johns in safety. The day
after his capture, Woodworth succeeded in making his escape. At
St. Johns, Shew and four others were given to the Indians, by whom
they were taken to their village in Canada. They were neither con-
sidered nor treated exactly as prisoners of war ; and Shew, with
three of his companions, soon afterwards escaped and returned home.
From St. Johns the Loyal party proceeded down the St. Lawrence
to Quebec, where the prisoners were kept in close confinement about
four months. Some of the number died, and the remainder were sent
to Halifax, and thence exchanged by the way of Boston. This move-

.ment of the Tories back in a body to their deserted homes, and its

success, form one of the most extraordinary incidents, though in

(x) Letter of General Washington to Governor Clinton and General Gates, 4th March, 1779,
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itself comparatively unimportant, which transpired during the wars
of the Mohawk country.”(1)

Shortly after this, another expedition was despatched from
Niagara to the Whig settlements in Pennsylvania under Colonel John
Butler, who also had with him, in addition to his Rangers, about
five hundred Mohawks under Brant. They entered the Valley of
Wyoming through a gap of mountains near its northern extremity,
took possession of two forts, Exeter and Lackawanna, also known as
Fort Wintermoot, the former of which was burnt ; Colonel Butler
establishing his headquarters in the latter. He was shortly afterwards
attacked by the Provincials under a namesake of his own—Colonel
Zebulon Butler, and on the 3rd of July a very desperate battle was
fought, which resulted in the total defeat of the Whigs, less than
sixty out of four hundred of them escaping, amongst the dead being
one Lieutenant-Colonel, one Major, ten Captains, six Lieutenants
and two Ensigns. Those who survived, with the women and
children of the neighbourhood, took refuge in Fort Wyoming. The
following day its surrender was demanded, when Zebulon Butler
made good his escape with such regular troops as he had with him,
his subordinate, Colonel Dennison, entering into articles of capitula-
tion with the British Commander, it being agreed that the Americans,
upon being disarmed, the garrison demolished, public stores given
up, and the property of “the people called Tories” made good,
should be permitted to return peacefully to their farms, their lives
and property being preserved. Colonel Butler, however, was unable
to restrain his native allies, and scenes were enacted in the Valley
almost equalling the outrages perpetrated shortly afterwards on the
Indians in the Seneca country by the American forces under General
Sullivan. Much fiction has, however, been written with regard to
this affair by American writers, and is admitted to be false by Mr.
Stone, such for instance as the account of the marching out of a large
body of Americans from one of the Forts to hold a parley by agree-
ment, and then being drawn into an ambuscade and all put to death ;
also that seventy Continental soldiers were butchered after having
surrendered, while equally untrue is pronounced to be the story of
the burning of houses, barracks and forts filled with women and
children. The Poet Campbell, in his mawkish sentimentality en-
titled « Gertrude of Wyoming,” has had much to say about “the

(1) Life of Brant, page 309.
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monster Brandt” in connection with these events, but then Edmon-
stoun Aytoun, in the ¢ Execution of Montrose,” terms a Chief of
the Campbell Clan, in whom they take great pride, ‘‘the monster-
fiend Argyle.” 1 suppose if Poets were allowed no license we would
have no poetry !

At the close of the War, the Mohawk tribe almost to a man,
under Brant’s leadership, quit their beautiful Valley and retired to
Canada with the other Loyalists. Brant was a Christian and a
member of the Church of England. In 1786 he built a Church on
the Grand River, wherein was placed the first ¢ Church-going bell ”
that ever tolled in Upper Canada. Shortly before his death he built
a commodious dwelling house for himself near Burlington Bay, where
he died on the 24th November, 1807, aged sixty-four years and eight
months, and after a painful illness borne with true Indian fortitude
and Christian patience and resignation. Mr. Stone states that while
his manner was reserved, as was customary with his people, never-
theless he was affable though dignified, on all occasions and in all
society comporting himself as would be expected in a well-bred
gentleman. His great quality was his strong, practical, good sense
and deep and ready insight into character. He had a keen sense of
humour and was an excellent conversationalist, while in letters he
was in advance of some of the Generals against whom he fought
and of even still greater military men who have flourished before his
day and since. Though not without failings, they were redeemed
by high qualities and commanding virtues ; in business relations he
was a model of promptitude and integrity ; the purity of his private
morals has never been questioned, and his house was the abode of
kindness and hospitality. As a warrior he was cautious, sagacious
and brave, watching with sleepless vigilance for opportunities of
action, and allowing neither dangers nor difficulties to divert him
from his well-selected purpose. His constitution was hardy, his
capacity of endurance great, his energy untiring, and his firmness
indomitable. On the occasion of his visits to Great Britain, he was
treated by the Royal Family, the leaders of the Nobility and the
Political chiefs with the most distinguished consideration. He had
during the Revolutionary War made the personal friendship of several
officers of high social station, among others being Earl Moira, after-
wards Marquis of Hastings, who had served in America as Lord
Rawdon, who presented him with his miniature, set in gold; General
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Sir Charles Stuart, a younger son of the Earl of Bute, and the Duke
of Northumberland, who had as Lord Percy been on terms of inti-
mate friendship with him, and with whom he maintained a corres-
pondence until his death. Many of these letters are given by Mr.

tone in his ¢ Life of Brant,” the Duke, himself by the way a warrior
of the Mohawk Tribe by adoption, always addressing Brant as ¢ My
dear Joseph,” and signing himself, “ Your affectionate friend and
brother, Northumberland Thorighwigeri,” in which Indian title he
rejoiced, and which had been conferred upon him by Brant himself.
The name signified “ The Evergreen Brake,” a pretty conceit, indi-
cating that a titled house never dies, like the leaves of this peculiar
species of brake, in which, when the old leaf falls, the young 13 in
fresh and full existence. Brant, on his part, fully aware of the cus-
toms of the great, always addressed His Grace as “ My Lord Duke,”
signing himself, “ Your Grace’s faithful friend and brother warrior,
Jos. Brant, Thayendanegea.” The Earl of Warwick was another of
his friends, and for whom he sat for his picture, as he had done for
the Duke of Northumberland.

When presented at Court, he declined to kiss the King’s hand,
but with equal gallantry and address offered to kiss that of the
Queen, which the kind-hearted Monarch took in excellent part. He
stood equally well in the graces of the Prince Regent, who took
great delight in his company, and by whom he was frequently enter-
tained. It was quite the mode to affect him, and the Carlton House
set, Fox, Sheridan and others, taking in this as in much else their
cue from “ the first gentleman of Europe,” lavished attention and
civilities on him.

A laughable episode occurred at a fancy dress ball which was
given during his stay in London. Brant attended the masquerade,
which was got up on a scale of great splendour, and at the sugges-
tion of Lord Moira dressed himself in the costume of his nation,
wearing no mask, but painting one-half of his face. His plumes
nodded proudly in his cap and his tomahawk glistened at his side,
no character in all the brilliant pageant being more picturesque or
attracting greater attention. Among others who were present was
a Turkish diplomat of high rank, who scrutinized the Chief very
closely, and mistaking his rouge et noir complexion for a painted
visor, took him by the nose, intending, probably, to remove the
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mask and have a look to see who was concealed thereunder!
Brant, to carry out the joke, feigned intense indignation, raised his
appalling war-whoop, which made the blood of the merry-makers
curdle in their veins, flashed his tomahawk around the head of the
terriied Turk, who doubtless was a remarkably ¢ sick man” at that
particular time, and left the screaming women under the impression
that they would be the unwilling witnesses of the scalping of the
poor Turk. The joke had been carried far enough, however, and
the Mussulman was left in possession of his hair, the matter was
explained, and the incident accounted quite the feature of the even-
ing. Mr. Stone states that some of the London papers represented
that Brant raised his weapon in serious earnest, having taken the
freedom of the Turk for an intentional indignity, but this of course
is ridiculous. Readers of Mr. John Galt's work, ¢ The Stcamboat,”
will remember another instance in which Printing House Square
was imposed upon in connection with another Chief, not unknown
to the Clansmen of Clengarry, when “at thé Coronation of George
IV. a lady’s hysterics at seeing a Highlander in full dress almost
created a panic, and the ¢ Times,” under the heading of “A Mys-
terious Circumstance,” absolutely gave the impression that it was a
deep-laid Jacobite scheme for the destruction of the Royal Family.

But to resume.

Later in the summer, one of the Macdonells who had formerly
lived in Tryon County, and according to Mr. Stone was a Loyalist
Officer “ distinguished for his activity,” made a sudden irruption into
the Schoharie settlements at the head of about three hundred Indians
and ¢ Tories,” burning houses and killing and making prisoners of
such of the male inhabitants as came in their way, the American
force in the fortress at Schoharie being afraid to come out.

Colonel Gansevoort, however, with a squadron of Cavalry,
arrived to the assistance of his countrymen, and Macdonell and his
ten, having accomplished the object of their mission, returned to
headquarters.



CHAPTER 4.

SULLIVAN'S EXPEDITION AGAINST THE SENACAS AND CAYUGAS.—
INTENDED CAPTURE OF NIAGARA FRUSTRATED.— SIR JOHN
JoHNsoN AND HIS REGIMENT RETURN TO TryoNn COUNTY.—
BRANT DESTROYS CANAJOHARIE.— STILL ANOTHER INVASION
INTO THE SCHOHARIE COUNTRY—ENVESTMENT OF FORT MIDDLE-
BERG—AMERICANS FIRE ON A FLAG OF TRUCE.— IMMENSE
DESTRUCTION OF GRAIN AND OTHER PROPERTY..— CAUGHNA-
WAGA AND STONE ARABIA LAID IN ASHES. — DEFEAT OF
AMERICANS AT FORT KEYSER.—HALDIMAND’S APPROBATION OF
SR JoHN JOHNSON’S ZEAL.— NEGOTIATIONS FOR RETURN OF
PRISONERS.—SUFFERINGS OF LOYALIST FAMILIES.—FIGHT AT
SCHELL'S - SETTLEMENT, NEAR FORT DAYTON. — A BRAVE
DISCIPLE OF MARTIN LUTHER.— AMERICANS VICTORIOUS IN
TWO ENGAGEMENTS NEAR JOHNSTOWN.—DEATH OF WALTER
BUTLER. — AWFUL MASSACRE BY AMERICAN MISCREANTS OF
THE MORAVIAN TRIBE OF NON-COMBATANT INDIANS.—CoN-
CLUSION OF THE WAR.

In the Spring of 1779, it was determined by the Americans that
active measures should be taken against the Indians, especially the
Senacas and Cayugas, that those tribes should in fact be annihilated,
and with this object in view a division of their army from Pennsyl-
vania under General Sullivan, who was in command of the expedi-
tlon, and another from the north under General Clinton, effected a
junction at Newton, the site of the present town of Elmira. Their
joint forces amounted to five thousand men. They were there met
by a gallant band of five hundred Indians -under Brant, with two
hundred and fifty British under Colonel John Butler, associated with
whom were Sir John and Guy Johnson, Major Walter N. Butler and
Captain John Macdonell (Aberchalder). A desperate resistance
was made against such tremendous odds, but without present suc-
cess, yet the ultimate and indeed the principal object of the cam-
paign, which was the capture of Niagara, the headquatters of the
British in that region, and the seat of influence and power among the
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Indians, was abandoned, and the Americans reaped but little advan-
tage from the expedition except that they scourged a broad extent of
country, and laid more towns in ashes than ever had been destroyed
on the continent before. Such of the redmen as were not massacred
wére with their women and children driven from their country, their
habitations were left in ruin, their fields laid waste, their orchards
uprooted, their altars overthrown, and the tombs of their fathers
desecrated—all of which is admitted by the American historians,and
was in strict accordance with General Washington’s orders, and for
which General Sullivan received the thanks of Congress (November
3oth, 1779). And yet they complained of the atrocities of the In-
dians !

Still again, in May, 1780, Sir John Johnson, at the head of five
hundred men, composed of some Regular troops, a detachment of
his own Regiment, and about two hundred Indians and ‘ Tories,”
re-visited the scene of their once habitation, a visit highly unpopular
to their former neighbours, and the immediate object of which was
to recover Sir John’s family plate, which had been buried in the cel-
lar of Johnson Hall at the time of his flight in 1776, the place of
deposit being confided only to a faithful slave. It was found and
distributed among forty of his soldiers, who brought it back to
Montreal.  After the custom of the day, they destroyed all the
buildings, killed the sheep, cattle and a number of obnoxious Whigs,
and appropriated all the horses to their own use. Their ranks were
recruited by a considerable number of Loyalists, while Sir John also
obtained possession of some thirty of his negro slaves. A number of
prisoners were also taken and sent to Chambly. We are of course
told that *this irruption was one of the most indefensible aggressions
upon an unarmed and slumbering people which stain the annals of
British arms.” It made much difference on which leg the boot was
placed; and the Indians in sympathy and alliance with the British
were to abstain from all acts of violence, while not only the men of
their race, but the women and children as well, were to be massacred
in cold blood, their very extermination being the object in view—and
the Loyalists were to strike no blow for the Cause they held so dear,
and against those who had deprived them of every earthly posses-
sion. The following is Sir John Johnson’s report of this expedition :
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“ST. JoHNs, 3rd June, 1780,
“ SIR,

“T have the honour to report to Your Excellency the arrival of
the troops and Indians under my command at this place. We
arrived at the settlement, within five miles of Johnson Hall, on the
21st of last month, in the evening, previous to which I had made
known to the Indians the plan I wished to pursue, and I thought I
had little reason to doubt their joining heartily in it, but upon
assembling them to obtain their final answer, I was not a little
mortified to find them totally averse to it, or even to a division of
their body. I therefore found myself under the disagreeable
necessity of adopting their plan, which was for them to proceed
to Tripe’s Hill, within a mile and a half of Fort Johnson, while the
troops under my command were to march by Johnstown to Caghna-
waga, where the whole were to jom and proceed up the river to the
nose, and from thence to Stone Arabia. We accordingly proceeded,
and met at the house of Dow Fonda, at Caghnawaga, destroying all
before us as we marched along. From thence we proceeded to with-
in a mile of the nose, where a halt was found absolutely necessary,
the troops and Indians being much fatigued and in want of refresh-
ment, having marched from six in the morning of thé z1st till ten in
the morning the day following. Some of the Indians and Rangers
continued burning and laying waste everything before them, till they
got above the nose. Most of the inhabitants fled to the opposite
shore with their best effects, securing their boats, which prevented
their crossing the river. After the men were sufficiently rested and
refreshed, I pioposed moving on to Stone Arabia, to which the
Indians objected, alleging that the troops, as well as themselves,
were too much fatigued to proceed any further, and that the
inhabitants were all fled into their forts with their effects, and that
there was nothing left but empty houses, which were not worth the
trouble of going to burn ; indeed, many ol them moved off with their
plunder, with which they were all loaded, before I knew their inten-
tion. I therefore found myself under the necessity of following them.
We burned several houses on our return to Johnstown, where we
arrived about one o’clock the same day. After providing provisions,
etc., we marched back by the same route we came to the Scotch
settlement. The number of houses, barns, milis, etc., burnt, amounts
to about one hundred and twenty. The Indians, contrary to my
expectation, killed only eleven men, among them Colonel Fisher,
Captain Fisher, and another brother, of what rank I know not. The
prisoners taken amounted to twenty-seven. Fourteen of them I suf-
feied to return, being either tov old or too young to march, and I
was induced by the earnest desire of the Loyal families left behind
to set at liberty two of the principal prisoners we had taken, in order to
protect them from the violence of the people, which they most solemnly
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promised to do ; and in order to make them pay the utmost atten-
tion to their engagements, I assured them that the rest of the prison-
ers should be detained as hostages for the performance of this pro-
mise. I also sent a Captain Veeder back in exchange for Lieuten-
ant Singleton, of my Regiment, which I hope will meet with Your
Excellency’s approbation. Vast quantities of flour, bread, Indian
corn, and other provisions were burnt in the houses and mills, and a
great number of arms, cash, etc.; many cattle were killed, and about
seventy horses brought off. One hundred and forty-three Loyalists,
and a number of women and children; with about thirty blacks (male
and female), came off with us. Seventeen of the latter belong to
Colonel Claus, Johnson and myself. Some are claimed by white
men and Indians, who are endeavouring to dispose of them ; I should
therefore be glad to have Your Excellency’s directions concerning
them. I enclose Your Excellency the only papers I could procure,
with sundry letters, which will shew the early intelligence they had
of our approach. I must beg leave to refer Your Excellency to Cap-
tain Scott for further particulars, and beg you will excuse this imper-
fect account of our proceedings. I shall transmit exact returns of
the Loyalists and Indians from the Mohawk Village, who have come
in, by the next post. I beg leave to recommend my cousin, Ensign
Johnson, to Your Excellency for the vacancy in the Forty-Seventh,
if not pre-engaged, as he was of great service in preventing the
Indians from committing many irregularities, which I was very appre-
hensive of, and he has been promised the first vacancy. I must also
beg Your Excellency will be pleased to grant a flag for the relief of
the families lett-in Tryon County who may choose to come into this
Province, which is most earnestly wished for by their husbands and
parents. '
I have the honour to be, with great respect,
“ Your Excellency’s
¢ Most obedient and
“ Most humble servant,

“JoHN JOHNSON.
“ His Excellency,
General Haldimand.”(1)

Later in that ycar (August, 1780), Brant with his Indians paid a
visit on his own account to the settlements of the Mohawk, destroyed
the forts at Canajoharie, and rendered the fairest district of the
Valley in a single day a scene of wailing and desolation, sixteen of
the inhabitants being killed, fifty-three dwelling houses, as many barns,
together with a” grist mill, the church and growing crops destroyed,
and between fifty and sixty prisoners taken, though it is admitted

(1) Haldimand Papers, Series B, vol. 158, p. 128,
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that “no outrages were committed on defenceless women and child-
ren other than carrying them into captivity ”—a circumstance which
Mr. Stone is good enough to attribute to the absence of the wicked
“ Tories ” in this expedition.

In October of the same year another and more extensive expe-
dition was planned and carried out against the unfortunate Whigs of
the same district, in retaliation for Sullivan’s merciless crusade, under
Sir John Johnson, Thayendanegea and a famous Seneca Chieftain, a
half-breed named O’Bail, styled by the Indians “ Corn Planter ”—
the force consisting, besides Mohawks, of three Companies of the
Royal Regiment of New York, one Company of German Yagers, a
Detachment of two hundred of Butler’s Rangers, and one Company
of Regulars, under the command of Captain Richard Duncan, the
son of an opulent gentleman residing previous to the War in the
neighborhood of Schenectady, and who was afterwards a well-known
pioneer of the County of Dundas, which, if I am not mistaken, he
represented in the early Parliaments of Upper Canada, and was also
in later life one of the Judges of the Province—for the District of
Lunenberg, as the Eastern portion of the Province was first known.
Their total number is variously estimated from eight hundred to over
fifteen hundred. Sir John’s troops were collected at Lachine, whence
they ascended the St. Lawrence to Oswego. Thence they crossed
the country to the Susquehanna, where they were joined by the
Indians and some ¢ Tories.” Each soldier and Indian had eighty
rounds of cartridges.

The Americans on this occasion, when Sir John had invested
the Fort of Middleberg, showed their appreciation of the rules of
honourable warfare by firing three different times on British officers
bearing flags of truce with a summons to surrender, their reason
being, as is alleged, * The savages, and their companions the Tories
still more savage than they, had shown no respect to age, sex or
condition, and it was not without force that the question was
repeated, are we bound to exercise a forbearance totally unrecipro-
cated by the enemy?” ¢ Besides,” it was added, “let us show that
we will neither take nor give quarter ; and the enemy, discovering
our desperation, will most likely withdraw.” Such conduct as this
was likely to meet with reprisals, and it did. The march was con-
tinued in the direction of Fort Hunter, at the confluence of the
Schoharie-kill with the Mohawk River, in the course of which were
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destroyed the buildings and produce of every description. General
Washington, in his message to the President of Congress, stated that
the destruction of grain was so great as to threaten the most alarm-
ing consequences, in respect to the forming of magazines for the
public service at the north, and that but for that event the settlement
of Schoharie alone would have delivered 80,000 bushels of grain.
The houses and bams were burnt, the horses and cattle killed or
taken, and not a building known to belong to a Whig was saved ;
the Whigs, however, in retaliation, immediately after reducing the
houses of the Tories to the common lot. Sir John ordered his forces
to spare the Church at the Upper Fort, but his mandate was dis-
obeyed. It is alleged that over one hundred of the inhabitants were
killed, but this is probably a gross exaggeration. Whatever was left
of Caughnawaga at the time ot the irruption of Sir Johnin the spring,
and all that had been rebuilt, was destroyed by fire, and both sides
of the Mohawk River laid in waste. A Major Fonda, a prominent
Whig, was a principal sufferer, his houses and property in the Town
of Palatine to the value of sixty thousand dollars being destroyed.
At Fort Keyser a battle took place, which resulted in the entire dis-
comforture of the Americans, their leader, Colonel Brown, and some
forty-five of his men being killed, the remainder seeking safety in
flight, and Stone Arabia was then reduced to the condition of a de-
sert. By this time, however, reinforcements had arrived for the
Americans, under the command of General Van Renssalaer, whose
forces were in every respect superior to the British. In the engage-
ment which followed, the British Indians did not act with their usual
bravery, and though the Regulars and Rangers are admitted to have
fought with great spirit, Sir John and his forces were obliged to retire.
He succeeded, however, by a very skilful manceuvre, in capturing a
strong detachment of the Americans under Captain Vrooman, and
made his way to Oswego without further molestation. Sir Frederick
Haldimand, writing to Lord George Germaine, stated : “ I cannot
finish without expressing to Your Lordship the perfect satisfaction
which I have for the zeal, spirit and activity with which Sir John
Johnson has conducted this arduous enterprise.”

About this time some very acrimonious correspondence was
taking place between British and American officers, each accusing
the other of cruelty to prisoners. Thus, General Watson Powell
writes to the American Colonel Van Schaick, in returning some
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_Amierican prisosiers : “ The attention which has been shown to Mrs.
Campbell and those in her unfortunate circumstances, as well as the
good treatment of the prisoners, which it is hoped they will have the
candour to acknowledge, is referred to for comparison to those by
whose orders or permission His Majesty’s subjects have experienced
execution, the horrors of a dungeon loaded with irons, and the miser-
fes of want,” and he enclosed a list of some families of men belong-
ing to the Eighty-Fourth Regiment whose return was demanded.
The list is as follows : John McDonell’s family, Donald McGruer’s,
Duncan McDonell’s, John McIntosh’s, Duncan McDonell’s, Donald
McDonald’s, Kenneth McDonell’s, and John McDonell’s father and
mother. Colonel Gansevoort replied, denying the accusation which
General Powell miade in a previous portion of his letter, of a breach
of faith on the part of the Americans in regard to the cartel of the
Cedars, and denying also that, except insome few cases by way of re-
taliation for the many cruclties alleged by him to have been perpetrated
by the British. any prisoners or Loyalists had been treated with
cruelty or indignity. Colonel Gansevoort, however, is upon their
own admission, proven to have lied twice in the same letter, and his
maxim being, as is stated, ¢ his country, right or wrong "—his denial
of crueliy to prisoners is worthless. It is apparent, and perhaps
after all but natural, that their wrongs all through the War were
magnified to the utmost extent, and in others the most preposterous
stories were fabricated, while they carefully conceal, minimize or
totally deny well-founded accusations of cruelty to prisoners m their
hands, and other offences. Some of their violations of the rules
which govern hostile States and Governmerits are, however, notori-
ous, and are matters of history, as when Congress itself broke the
plighted faith of their General (Arnold) in regard to the cartel
entered into at the Cedars for the exchange of prisoners. They are
unable to deny or explain that breach of national honour, and are
obliged to admit that the violation of the stipulations made on that
occasion created difficulties in regard to the exchange of prisoners
during the whole War, and was frequently a source of embarassment
.and mortification to General Washington during its entire continua-
tion.
The Haldimand papers shew the vicissitudes and hardships
undergone by the families of many of the officers.” In series B, vol.
158, p. 351, appears the following :
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“To His Excellency General Haldimand, General and Comrander

in Chief of all His Majesty’s Forces in Canada and the Fron-
tiers thereof, .

“The memorial of John and Alexander Macdonell, Captains
in the King’s Royal Regiment of New Vork, humbly sheweth,

“That your Memorialist, John Macdonell’s, family areat present
detained by the rebels in the County of Tryon, within the Province
of New York, destitute of every support but such as they may receive
from the few friends to Government in said quarters, in which situa-
tion they have been since 1777.

‘ And your Memorialist, Alexander Macdonell, on behalf of his
brother, Captain Allan Macdonell, of the Eighty-Fourth Regiment:
that the family of his said brother have been detained by the Rebels
in and about Albany siuce the year 1775, and that unless it was for
the assistance they have met with from Mr. James Ellice, of Sche-
nectady, merchant, they must have perished.

“Your Memorialists therefore humbly pray Your Excellency
will be graciously pleased to take the distressed situation of said
families into consideration,and to grant that a flag be sent to demand
them in exchange, or otherwise direct towards obtaining their release-
ment, as Your Excellency in your wisdom shall see fit, and your
Memorialists will ever pray as in duty bound.

“ (Signed,) JouNx MACDONELL,
“ ALEXANDER MACDONELL.”

The above memorial is dated 27th July, but the year is not
given. It was probably 1779 or 178o.

A petition from a number of the men of the King’s Royal Regi-
ment of New York is as follows :—

To the Honourable Sir John Johnson, Lieutenant-Colonel Com-
mander of the King’s Royal Regiment of New York.

The humble petition of sundry soldiers of said Regiment
sheweth,—

That your humble petitioners, whose names are hereunto sub-
scribed, have families in different places of: the Counties of Albany
and Tyron, who have been and are daily being ill-treated by
the enemies of Government.

Therefore we do humbly pray that Your Honour would be
pleased to procure permission for them to come to Canada.

And your petitioners will ever pray.

JorN McGrENnNY, ALEX. FERGUSON,
THOMAS Ross, THoMmAS TAYLOR,
ALEXANDER CAMERON, WiLLiam CAMERON,
FREDERICK GOOSE, GEORGE MURDOFF,
Wat. UrGHAD,* g WiLLiam Cuessim, t

* Probably Urquhart. t Probably Chisholm,
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Duxcaxw MCINTIRE, Joux CHRISTY,
ANDREW MILEROSS, DanieEL CAMPRELL,
DonaLp McCARTER, DoxaLp Ross,

ALLEN GRANT, DowaLp CHISSEM, T
Hucs CHISHOLM, Roperick McDonaLp,
ANGus GRANT, ALEXANDER GRANT,

JorN McDonaLD.

The names and number of each family intended in the within
petition :—

Name o¥ FamiLy CONSISTING OF No.

1, Duncan MclIntyre's - Wife, Sister and Child - %
7, John Christy’s - Wife and 3 Children - 4
3, George Mordoff’s - do 6 do - 7.
3, Daniel Campbell’s - do 5 do - 6
s, Andrew Milross’ - Wife - I
6, William Urghad’s - Wife and 3 Children - 4
4, Donald McCarter’s - dor" 43 Vide - 4
8, Donald Ross’ - do 1 Child - z
g, Allan Grant’s = do 1 do - 3
10, William Chissim’s - do - 1 do - 2
11, Donald Chissim’s - do 2 Children - 3
12, Hugh Chissim’s - do 5 do - 6
13, Roderick McDonald’s - do 4 do - 5
14, Angus Grant’s - do 5 do - 6
15, Alexander Grant’s - do 4 do - 5
16, Donald Grant’s - do 4 do - 5
17, John McDonald’s - Wife - 1
18, John McGlenny’s - Wife and 2 Children - 3
19, Alexander Ferguson - do 5 do - 6
20, Thomas Ross’ - do 4 do - 5
21, Thomas Taylors’ - do 1 Child - 2
22, Alexander Cameron’s - do 3 Children - 4
23, Willlam Cameron’s - do 3 do - 4
24, Frederick Goose’s - do 4 do - 5

Endorsed—Memorial from several soldiers of Sir John John-
son’s Corps, received zyth July. (The year is not given, it was
probably 1779 or 1780.) (1) -

In August, 1781, Donald McDonald, one of the Loyalists from
Tryon County, who had come to Canada at the head of a small band
of sixty-two Indians and Tories, and accompanied by ¢two
notorious traitors named Empie and Kasselman,” as Mr. Stone is
good enough to term two prominent German Loyalists, whose

t Probably Chisholm.
(z) Haldimand Papers, Series B, vol. 158, p. 352, as given by Judge Pringle.
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descendants now live in the County of Stormont, made a raid upon
the settlement at Schell’s bush near Fort Dayton. A number of
Whigs took refuge in Schell’s house, and defended it bravely against
several attempts to fire it. McDonald at length procured a crowbar
and attempted to force the door, but while thus engaged received a
shot in the leg from Schell’s musket which placed him hors de com-
bat, and none of his men being sufficiently near, Schell, quick as
lightning, opened the door and made him prisoner, making use of
the cartridges with which he was amply provided to fire upon his
comrades, several of whom were killed and others wounded. Where-
upon Mr. Schell, out of compliment to McDonald’s religion no doubt,
immediately caused to be sung the hymn which was a favourite with
Luther during the perils and afflictions of the great Reformer in his
controversies with the Pope. While thus engaged, McDonald’s
forces returned to the fight, and made a desperate attempt to carry
the fortress by assault and rescue their leader. Rushing up to the
walls, five of them thrust the muzzles of their guns through the loop-
holes, but had no sooner done so than Mrs. Schell, seizing an axe,
by quick and well-directed blows, ruined every musket by bending
the barrels. Schell afterwards managed to escape to Dayton.
McDonald was so desperately wounded that his men were unable to
remove him, so they took Schell’s boys as hostages, charging their
wounded leader to tell the Americans that if they would be kind to
him they would take care of Schell’s boys. McDonald was the next
day removed to Fort Dayton by Captain Small, where his leg was
amputated, but the blood could not be staunched and the brave
man died in a few hours. Mr. Stone is authority for the statement
that he wore a silver mounted tomahawk, which was taken from him
by Schell, that it was marked by thirty scalp notches, “showing that
few Indians could have been more industrious than himself in
gathering this description of military trophies”—but Mr. Stone is not
impartial or thoroughly trustworthy on such subjects.  Eleven
British were killed and six wounded, and the boys who were
returned after the War reported that nine wounded died before they
arrived in Canada. Schell was subsequently killed during the War
by Indians, one of his sons being killed and another wounded in
their efforts to save him. It must be conceded that he fought with
pluck and that Martin Luther had every reason to be proud of his
disciple.
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The last expedition against this neighborhood was destined to be
a still more unfortunate one for the British. In October, 1781, a
force was organized at Buck’s Island, in the St. Lawrence, a few
miles below Kingston, consisting of about seven hundred men,
composed of twenty-five men of the Eighth Regiment, one hundred of
the Thirty-fourth Regiment,one hundred of the Eighty-fourth (Royal
Highland Emigrants), thirty-six Highlanders, one bundred and twenty
of Sir John Johnson’s, forty of Lake’s Independents, one hundred
and fifty of Butler’s Rangers, twelve Yagers, with one hundred and
thirty Indians, the whole under the command of Major Ross, who
was, I believe, a brother-in-law of Captain John Macdonell of Aber-
chalder, having married his sister.

A hard contested battle took place in the neighborhood of
Johnstown on the 24th October, the fortune of war varying from time
to time, but eventuating in that of the Americans, whose loss was
forty killed, the British losing the same number in killed and some
fifty prisoners. A day or two later, another engagement occurred,
about twenty of the British being killed, amongst whom was the
brave Walter Butler, son of Colonel Butler of the Scouts, one of
the most enterprising and indefatigable officers, who was shot
through the head by an Ongcida Indian and promptly scalped. Itis
necessary to peruse a full narrative of the war properly to appreciate
the dauntless courage, activity and endurance of this gallant soldier.
The Americans disgraced their nation by refusing burial to his body.
“In re-passing the battle ground, the body of Butler was discovered
as it had been left, and there, without sepulchre, it was suffered to
remain. (1)

This expedition closed the active warlike operations in the north for
that year, and the following was a period rather of armed neutrality
than active war, while on the 3oth November, 1782, provisional
Articles of Peace on the basis of a treaty, by which the independence
of the United States was acknowledged, were entered into, and the
people of the Mohawk Valley were left in peace, though that region
of country had been so utterly laid waste that little more was to be
accomplished. The Loyalists lost their homes, but the land on
which their own dwellings once stood was all that they left to their
opponents. The last act of the War is a fitting satire upon the pro-
testations of the Americans of the humane manner in which they

(1) Stoae, vol. 2, page 192.
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conducted it: the massacre of every man, woman and child belong-
ing to the Moravian Tribe of Indians by a band of some three hun-
dred wretches under the command of a miscreant named Colonel
David Williamson. These I[ndians had been peaceable during the
whole War—the tenets of their religious faith, for they were Christ-
ians, and their religious principles, which would appear to have been
somewhat similar to those of the Quakers, forbidding them to fight.
They are described as a humble, devout and exemplary community,
simple tillers of the soil of their forefathers. Their brains were bat-
tered out, old men and matrons, young men and maidens and children
at their mothers’ breasts being massacred, two only of the whole
settlement escaping, while the American papers of the day applauded
it as a very commendable achievement. It was as base, as brutal
and as treacherous as the massacre of Glencoe—perhaps worse, if
that be possible. Mr. Thomas Campbell might have composed a
sequel to his *“ Gertrude of Wyoming 1”

The provisional articles of Peace, signed on the 3oth Novem-
ber, 1782, were forwarded by Lord Sydney to General Haldimand
on the 14th February, 1783. On the 8th of August following, Lord
North wrote to General Haldimand, ordering the disbandment of the
two Battalions of the King's Royal Regiment of New York and of
the Royal Highland Emigrant Regiment, the latter replying on the
18th of November that it would be impossible to disband them until
the spring.  The necessary preliminaries appear, however, to have
been carried out during the winter of «783-4, but the disbanded sol*
diers received assistance from Government for three years, until they
were able to reap some return from the lands allotted to them in
Upper Canada.

The Treaty of Versailles, establishing the Peace between Great
Britain and the United States, and settling the boundary between
Canada and the States, was signed on the 3rd September, 1783.



46

CHAPTER 8.

SETTLEMENT OF THE DISBANDED SOLDIERS IN GLENGARRY AND
ADJACENT COUNTIES OF STORMONT AND DuNpas—LisT oF
OFFICERS OF THE FIRST AND SECOND BATTALIONS OF THE
KinGg’s RovaL REGIMENT OF NEW YORK.—COLONEL STE-
WART'S AccoUNT OF THE RovaL HIGHLAND EMIGRANT

REGIMENT (OLD EIGHTY-FOURTH).—LIsT OF OFFICERS.

The Revolutionary War being over, the Highland soldiers of
the various Regiments mostly settled in the eastern part of what after-
wards became the Province of Upper Canada, and what now consti-
tutes the County,of Glengarry, being principally settled by those
from Glengarry in Scotland, they called it after the well-loved name
of the home of their forefathers; others were allotted land in what
now constitute the adjacent Counties of Stormont and Dundas. The
officers and men of the First Battalionof the King’s Royal Regiment
of New York, stationed at the close of the War at Isle aux Noixand
Carleton Island, with their wives and children, to the number of one
thousand four hundred and sixty-two, settled in a body in the first
five townships west of the boundary line of the Province of Quebec,
being the present Townships of Lancaster, Charlottenburgh, Corn-
wall; Osnabruck and Williamsburg ; those of the Second Battalion of
the King's Royal Regiment of New York going further west to the
Bay of Quinte, The following list shows the officers of the First
Battalion of Sir John Johnson’s Regiment, with length of service, &c.:



47

RETURN OF THE OFFICERS OF THE LATE FIRST BATTALION, KING'S
ROYAL REGIMENT OF NEW YORK.

g |

Nativity.

sl
Place of | &

S N - :
Former Situations and

=
. - FD

B B3

v P Remarks.
g S

= Names.
| =)
Lt.- SirJohn Johnson
Col.! Bart.
Com,
‘dnt |

Maj. James Gray

Capt/Angus McDonell

Capt|John Munro

Capt‘ Patrick Daly

| 1
Capt Richard Duncan

Capt/Sam’l. Anderson
Capt John McDonell

Capt Alex. McDonell

America

Scotland

Scotland

Scotland

Ireland
Scotland
America

Scotland

Scotland

8 years Succeeded his father,the late
ISir Wm. Johnson, as a Maj.-
Gen. of the Northern Dis. of
the Prov. of New York ; was
in possession of near zoo,-
0oo acres of valuable land,
lost in consequence of the
rebellion.
26 yrs Ensign in Lord Loudon’s
|Regt., 1745; lieut. and capt.
‘in ye 42nd till after taking
the Havannah, at which time
he sold out.(r) Had some
landed property, part of
which is secured to his son,
ye remaant lost in conse-
quence of the rebellion.
23 yrs |Ensign in 6oth Regt., July
‘ 8th, 1760; lieut. in same
regt., 27th Dec., 1770. Sold
out on account of bad state
of health, zznd May, 1773.
Had no lands.
8 years|Had considerable landed
property lost in consequence
of ye Rebellion, and served
in last war in America.
9 years|Lieut. in the 84th Regt. at
the Siege of Quebec, 17735-76.
13 yrs|Five years Ensign in the
55th Regiment.
8 years Had landed property, and
served in last warin America
8 yearsiHad landed property, 500
acres, purchased, and began
to improve in April, 1774.
8 years|zoo acres of land in fee
simple, under Sir John John-
son, Bart., ye annual rent of

£6 per 100.

(1) Havannah was taken in 1762, Gray sold ot in 1763,

.
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CaptjArch. McDone)liScotland 8 years, Merchant. Had no lands.

Capt/Allan McDorell jScotland |8 ye"trs(Held 200 acres of land un-

-Lt. ider Sir john Johnson, at £6
|per 100.

1t |Mal. McMartin |Scotland [8 years;Held 1oo acres of land un-
|der 5ir John Johnson, at £6.

Lt. |Peter Everett |America |7 years* Had some landed property.

Lt. {John Prentiss |America 9 years A Volunteer at the Siege of
Quebec, 1775-76.

L.t. |Hugh McDonefl Scotland |7 years/Son of Capt. McDonell

Lt |John F. Holland/America |5 years Son of Major Holland, Sur-
veyor-General, Province of
Quebec.

1t. |William Coffin |America |3 yearsSon of Mr. Coffin, merchant,
late of Boston.

Lt. {Jacob Farrand |America |7 yearsNephew to Major Gray.

Lt. |William Claus |America |7 yearsiSon of Col. Claus, deputy
agent Indian Affairs.

Lt. |Hugh Munro |America |6 years:Son of Capt. John Munro.

Lt ]chphA.)derson America |6 yearsiSon of Capt.Sam’l. Anderson.

Lt. {Thomas Smith iIreland |4 years;Son of Dr. Smith.

Ens. John Connolly ,I reland |2 years Private Gentleman.

Ens. Jacob Glen America |3 yearsiSon of John Glen, Esq., of
Schenectady. Had consider-
able landed property.

Ens.|Miles McDonell:Scotland |3 years, Son of Capt. John McDonell.

Ens.|Eben’r Anderson|America |6 years'Son of Capt. Sam’L. Anderson.

Ens.|DuncanCameron Scotland |14 yrs|{In service last war preced-
ing this one.

Ens.|John Mann America |8 years]anate gentleman.

Ens.|Francis McCar-Ireland |28 yrs Formerly sergeant in the

thy 34th Regiment.

Ens.!John Valentine |America |24 yrs|18 years in 55th and 62nd

! Regiments.

Ch’p]]ohn Doty America 8 years’Forerrly minister of the

lain ‘Gospel at Schenectady.

Adjt James Valentine|Ireland |4 yearsSon of Ens. John Valentine.

Q.M Isaac Mann America |8 years Merchant.

Surg Charles Austin |England |22 yrs/14 years in hospital work

M’te James Stewart [Scotland /14 yrs Surgeon’s mate in the 42nd

i iRegt. the war before last.
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RETURN OF THE OFFICERS OF THE LATE SECOND BATTALION, KING'S
ROYAL REGIMENT OF NEW YORK.

2

2 Names.
~

SNCNS

Place of |&" @

Nt et S =

Nativity. @ 93
e

T

Former Situations and
Remarks.

Maj.:Robert Leake

Capt|Thos.Gummesell

Capt{Jacob Maurer

Capt{Wm. Morrison

Capi[James McDoneli

Capt|Geo. Singleton
Capt/Wm. Redford
Crawford
Capt|— Byrns

England |7 years

England 8 years

Foreigner|28 yrs

Scotland }8 years

Scetland 8 years
Ireland (8 year
America 8 years

Ireland 8 years

Captj— Lepscomb
Capt]— McKenzie

Lt. |Patrick Langan

England ‘7 years
Scotland 8 years

Ireland |7 years

Lt. |{Walter Suther- Scotland |10 yrs

land

Lt. |William McKay Scotland |15 yrs

Lt. [Neal Robertson (Scotl and |8 years

Lt. {Henry Young
Lt. |John Howard

Lt. Jeremiah French
Lt |Phil.P. Lansingh
Lt. [Hazelt'nSpencer

A merica |8 years
Ireland

I3 yrIs

America |7 years
America |4 years

Had large landed property,
&ec., lost in consequence of
the rebellion.

Formerly merchant in New
York.

Served in ye army In the
6oth Regt.,from 1756 to 1763,
afterwards in the Quarter-
Master General’s Dept.
Was lieut., 1gth June, 1776,
in 1st Batt.; capt., 15th Nov.,
1781, in 2nd Batt.

Held zoo acres of land in
tfee simple, under Sir John
Johnson, at £6 per 100.
Formerly merchant.

Held lands under Sir John
Johnson.

Held lands under Sir John
Johnson.

Midshipman, Royal Navy.
'Held lands under Sir John
|Johnson.

‘Private gentleman,

‘Soldier and non-commission-
led officer in 26th Regt.; en-
Isign, t7th Oct., 1779, in 1st
Batt.; lieut., Nov., 1781, in
2nd Batt. .

7 Yyears volunteer and ser-
geant in 21st Regts
Merchant.

Farmer.

Farmer; served 6 years last
wagy from 1755 to 1761, as
soldier and non-commission-
ed officer in 28th Regt.
Farmer.

High Sheriff, Charlot county.

America |7 years

Farmer.
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Lt. |Oliver Church [America 7years}Farmer.

Lt. |William Fraser |Scotland 7 years Farmer.

Lt. |Christian Wher |Foreign’r|y years Farmer.

Ens.[Alex. McKenzie |N.Britain|4 years/Farmer.

Ens.{Ron. McDonell {N.Britain|3 years|Farmer.

Ens.|— Hay America |3 years|Son of Gov. Hay at Detroit.
Ens.|Samuel McKay [America |3 years Son of thelate Capt. McKay.
Ens.} TimothyThomp|America (3 years Private gentleman.

son '
Ens.fJohn McKay [America tg years|Son of the late Capt.McKay.

Ens.}— Johnsen Ireland (2 years|Nephew to the late Sir Wm.

i ' Johnson, Bart.

Ens.}— Crawford America |4 yearsSon of Capt. Crawford.

Ch’p|John Stuart America |3 years|Missionary for the Mohawk

lain Indians at Fort Hunter.

Adjti— Fraser Scotland {10 yrs|y years soldier and non-com-
missioned officer in  34th
Regiment.

Q-Mj— Dies America |7 years|Farmer.

Sur. JR. Kerr Scotland |3 years!Assistant surgeon.

The latter Battalion, as already stated, both officers and men, with
some few exceptions, settled principally about Cataraqui, as Kings-
ton was then called, on the Bay of Quinte, in the Counties of Lennox
and Prince Edward, where their descendants are now to be found.
Each soldier received a certificate as follows, entitling him to land.
The descendants of the soldier mentioned still worthily occupy the
land so well earned by their ancestor, lot one in the ninth concession
of Charlottenburgh :

p Frognt

His Majefty’s Provincial Regiment, called the King’s Royal
Regiment of New York, whereof Sir John Johnson, Knight and Bar-
onet is Lieutenant-Colonel, Commandant.

These are to certify that the Bearer hereof, Donald McDonell,
soldier in Capt. Angus McDonell’'s Company, of the aforesaid Regi-
ment, born in the Parifh of Killmoneneoack, in the County of Inver-
nets, aged thirty-five years, has served honeftly and faithfully in the
faid regiment Seven Years; and in confequence of His Majesty’s
Order for Difbanding the faid Regiment, he is hereby difcharged, is

r<p 3
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entitled, by His Majesty’s late Order, to the Portion of Land allotted
to each soldier of His Provincial Corps, who wifhes to become a
Settler in this Province. He having firft received all juft demands of
Pay, Cloathing, &c., from his entry into the faid Regiment, to the
Date of his Difcharge, as appears from his Receipt on the back
hereof.

Given under my Hand and Seal at Arms, at Montreal, this
twenty-fourth Day of December, 1783.

JouN JOHNSON.

I, Donald McDonell, private soldier, do acknowledge that I
have received all my Cloathing, Pay, Arrears of Pay, and all De-
mands whatfoever, from the time of my Inlifting in the Regiment
and Company mentioned on the other Side, to this prefent Day of
my Difcharge, as witnefs my Hand this 24th day of December, 1783.

DoNaLD McDONELL.

Mzr. Croil states that each soldier was entitled to one hundred
acres on the river front, besides two hundred acres at a distance
remote from the River. If married and with a family, or if at any
future time he should marry, he was entitled to fifty acres more for
his wife and fifty for every child, bestdes which each son and daugh-
ter on coming of age was entitled to a further grant of two hundred
acres. This, I believe, is what the men ultimately got, yet the OrJer
in Council of 22nd October, 1788 (although the discharge as given
above, the original of which was lent me, would seem to indicate that
there had been a previous Order on the subject) recited that on the
raising of the Eighty-fourth Regiment (Royal Highland Emigrants) the
men were promised that on their being reduced the allotment of land
should be as follows : Field Officers, 5,000 acres; Captains, 3,000 ;
Subalterns, 2,000 ; Non-commissioned Officers, 200 ; Privates, 5o,
and referring to the Petitions of Sir John Johnson and Lieutenant-
Colonel John Butler, on behalf of the King’s Roy'il Regiment of New
York and the late Corps of Rangers, directed "that those Regiments
should be placed on the same footing as regards land as the Eighty-
Fovrth.

Although on the termination of the War the original settlers in
Glengarry and the adjacent district were, as we have seen, principally
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composed of the men of Sir John Johnson’s Regiment, yet many
families of men who belonged to the 1st Battalion of the old Eighty-
fourth or Royal Highland Emigrant Regiment also settled in the
County and neighborhood, and an account of the raising and the
services of that Battalion may not be out of place. It is given in
Colonel (afterwards General) Stewart’s “ Sketches of the Highlanders
of Scotland ” which also contains details of the military service of the
Highland Regiments. This work of the gallant Stewart of Garth,
himself a soldier of high renown, seamed all over with the scars
"ot Egypt and Spain, is most valuable and interesting. It is doubtful
if any man except Sir Walter Scott ever did more to gather the
fragments which relate to the proud history of Scotland.

When Colonel Stewart submitted them to Sir Walter for his per-
usal, and asked him to suggest a motto for them, I have somewhere
seen it stated that he mentioned these lines from Shakespeare, which
were adopted :

"Tis wonderful
That an invisible instinct should frame them
To loyalty unlearned : honour untaught ;
Civility not seen from others ; valour
That wildly grows in them, but yields a crop
As if it had been sowed.

Any one who doubts the entire appropriateness of those lines
had better read the book.

The Eighty-Fourth, or Royal Highland Emigrant Regiment
(originally embodied in 1775, but not regimented or numbered till
1778), was to consist of two battalions. Lieutenant-Colonel Allan
McLean, of the late One Hundred and Fourth Highland Regiment, was
appointed Lieutenant Colonel Commandant of the first battalion,which
was to be raised and embodied from the Highland Emigrants in
Canada, and the discharged men of the Forty Second, of Fraser’s and
of Montgomery’s Highlanders who had settled in the country after
the Peace of 1763. Captain John Small, formerly of the Forty
Second and then of the Twenty First Regiment, was appointed
Major-Commandant of the Second Battalion, which was to be
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completed in Nova Scotia from Emigrant and discharged Highland
soldiers. The establishment of both was Seven Hundred and Fifty
men, with officers in proportion. The Commissions were dated the
14th June, 1775.

Officers sent to the back settlements to recruit found the
discharged soldiers and emigrants loyal and ready to serve His
Majesty. The emigration from the Highlands, previous to this period,
had Deen very limited. With many the change of abode was
voluntary, and consequently their minds, neither irritated nor discon-
tented, retained their former attachment to their native country and
government. But there was much difficulty in conveying the parties
who had enlisted to their respective destinations. One of these
detachments, from Carolina, had to force its way through a
dangerous and narrow pass, and across a bridge defended by
cannon and a strong detachment of the rebels; “but aware that the
Americans entertained a dread of the broadsword, from experience of
its effects in the last War, with more bravery than prudence, and
forgetting that they had only a few swords and fowling pieces used in
the settlements, they determined to attack the post sword in hand,
and pushed forward to the attack.” But they found the enemy too
strong and the difficulties insurmountable. They were forced to
relinquish the attempt with the loss of Captain Macleod and a number
of men killed.  Those who escaped made their way by different
routes to their destination. Colonel Maclean’s Battalion was
stationed in Quebec, when Canada was threatened with invasion by
the American General, Arnold, at the head of threz thousand men.
Colonel Maclean, who had been detached up the River St. Lawrence,
returned by forced marches, and entered Quebec on the evening of
the 13th November, 1776, without being noticed by Arnold. He
had previously crossed the river, and on the night of the Fourteenth
made a smart attack with a view of getting possession of their out-
works, but was repulsed with loss, and forced to retire to Pointe aux
Trembles. The fortifications of the city had been greatly neglected,
and were now in a ruinous state. The garrison cousisted of fifty
men of the Fusiliers, three hundred and fifty of Maclean’s newly raised
Emigrants and about seven hundred Militia and Seamen. General
Guy Carlton, the Commanderin-Chief, being occupied with
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preparations for the general defence of the Colony, the defence of
the town was entrusted to Colonel Maclean, an able and intelligent
officer.

Arnold having been reinforced by a body of troops under Gen-
eral Montgomery, determined to attempt the town by assault. On
the morning of the 3ist December, both Commanders, leading
separate points of attack, advanced with great boldness, but were
completely repulsed at all points, with the loss of General Mont-
gomery killed and General Arnold wounded. The Highland Emi-
grants, though so recently embodied, contained a number of old
soldiers, who, in this affair did honour to the character of the Corps
in which they served.

General Arnold, disappointed in this attempt, established him-
self on the Heights of Abraham, with the intention of intercepting all
supplies, and blockading the town. In this situation he reduced the
garrison to great straits, all communication with the country being
entirely cut off. This blockade he soon turned into an active siege ;
he erected batteries and made several attempts to get possession of
the Lower Town, but was foiled at every point by the vigilant and
intelligent defender, Colonel Maclean. On the approach of spring,
Arnold, despairing of success, raised the siege, and evacuated the
whole of Canada.

After this service, the Battalion remained in the Province dur- *
ing the War, and was principally employed in small but harassing
enterprises. In one of these, Captain D. Robertson, Lieutenant
Hector Maclean and Ensign Grant, with the Grenadier Company,
marched twenty days through the woods with no other direction than
a compass and an Indian guide. The object to be accomplished
was to surprise and dislodge the enemy from a small post, which
they occupied in the interior. This service was accomplished with-
out loss. By long practice in marching through the woods the men
had become very intelligent and serviceable in this kind of warfare,

With every opportunity and much temptation to desert, in con-
sequence of offers of land and other incitements held out by the
Americans, it is but justice to the memory of these brave and loyal
men to state, on the most unquestionable authority, that not one
native Highlander deserted, and only one Highlander was brought to
the halberts during the time they were embodied.
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RETURN OF OFFICERS OF THE FIRST BATTALION OF HIS MA]ESTY’S
REGIMENT OF ROYAL HIGHLAND EMIGR.—\NTS.(I)

Iste aux Noix, 1s5th April, 1778.

Rank. Names. Former Rank in the Army.
Lieut.-Col. [Allan McLean Lieutenant-Colonel.
Major Donald McDonald
Captain William Dunbar Capt. late 78th Regt.
] John Nairne
d Alexander Fraser Lieat. late 78th Regt.
« George McDougall Lieut. 6oth Regt.
& Malcolm Fraser Lieut. late 8th Regt.
¢ Daniel Robertson Lieut. y2nd Regt.
3 George Laws
Lieuterant |Neil McLean {prisoner) Lieut. 7th Regt.
& John MclLean Ensign late 114th Regt
& Alexander Firtelier
o Lachlan McLean
e Fran. Damburgess {prisoner)|Ensign 21 Nov., 1775.
g David Cairns Ensign 1st June, 1775.
9 Don. McKinnon Ensign 2oth Nov., 1775.
& Ronald McDonald Ensign 14th June, 1775,
% John McDonell Ensign 14th June, 1774
cd Alexander Stratton(prisoner)
¥ Hector McLean

Ensign Ronald McDonald

K Archibald Grant

& David Smith

5 George Daine

K¢ Archibald McDonald

¢ William Wood

¢ John Pringle

« Hector McLean (prisoner)
Chaplain  (John Bethune (prisoner)
Adjutant  |Ronald McDonald
Q'r-Master |Lachlan McLean
Surgeon  |James Davidson
Surg’s Mate|James Walker

The Second Battalion was very quickly embodied in Nova
Scotia, and was composed of the same description of men as the
first, but with a greater proportion of Highlanders, among whom
Major Small was held in high estimation. [He was a native of

() Haldimand Collection, B 213, page 15.
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Strathardale in Athole. His first Commission was in the Scotch
Brigade. In 1747 he obtained an Ensigncy in the old Highland
Regiment, and served in it till the Peace of 1763, when he was
reduced as Captain. He died Major-General and Governor of
Guernsey in 1796.] No chief of former days ever more firmly
secured the attachment of his Clan, and no chief, certainly, ever
deserved it better. With an enthusiastic and even romantic love of
his country and countrymen, it seemed as if the principal object of
his life had been to serve them and promote their prosperity.
Equally brave in leading them in the field, and kind, just and con-
ciliating in quarters, they would have indzed been ungrateful if they
had regarded him otherwise than as they did. There was not an
instance of desertion in their Battalion. Five Companies remained
in Nova Scotia and the neighboring settlements during the War.
The other five joined General Clinton and Lord Cornwallis” Armies
to the southward. The Flank Companies were in the Battalion of
that description. At Eataw Springs the Grenadier Company was
in the Battalion, which, as Colonel Alexander Stewart, of the Third
Regiment, states in his despatches, drove all before them.

It was not till 1778 that this Regiment was numbecred the
Eighty-Fourth. The Battalions, which were previously known only
as the Royal Highland Emigrants, were now ordered to be augment-
ed to one thousand mean each, Sir Henry Clinton being appointed
Colonel in Chief and the two Commandants remaining as before.
The uniform was the [ull Highland garb, with purses made of
racoons’ instead of badgers’ skins. The officers wore the broad-
sword and dirk, and the men a half-basket sword. All those who
had been settled in America previously to the War remained and
took possession of their lands, but many of the others returned
home.

The men of Colonel Maclean’s Battalion settled in Canada, and
of Colonel Small’s in Nova Scotia, where they formed a settlement
or township, as it was called, and gave it the name of Douglas.

I am unable to procure a list of officers of this Battalion.
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CHAPTER 8.

UN1tEp EMPIRE LOVALISTS.—LIST OF SCOTTISH NAMES APPEAR-
ING IN LORD DORCHESTER'S LIST. — A ¢ DISTINGUISHED
INDIVIDUAL’S ” OPINION OF THE HIGHLANDERS OF THAT GEN-
ERATION.—MR. CROIL’S DESCRIPTION OF THE SITUATION AND
CONDITION OF THE LOVALIST SETTLERS IN THE UNITED
COUNTIES.

A reference to the “Old U. E. List,” compiled by Government
by direction of Lord Dorchester, shows the original United Empire
Loyalists in the Province. In many instances, however, instead of
the Township being given, it is merely stated that lands were allotted
in the Eastern District. My only plan will, therefore, be to insert in
the appendix the names of all who appear to have settled in that
district, showing the respective Townships when given, and omitting
those who are stated to have settled in Townships outside Glengarry.

This list was prepared in pursuance of the Order-in-Council of
oth November, 1789, wherein it was stated that it was His Excel-
lency’s desire “to put a Marke of Honour upon the families who had
adhered to the unity of the Empire and joined the Royal Standard in
America before the Treaty of Separation in the year 1783  * &
to the end that their posterity may be discriminated from future
settlers i * as proper objects by their presevering in the
Fidelity and Conduct so honourable to their ancestors for distinguished
Benefits and Privileges.”

‘The list is preserved on record in the Crown Lands Department,
and it shows that those of the name of the Clan whith gave its name
to Glengarry outranked in number those of any other individual
name in the Province, and that there were more Loyalists of that
name than any three English names combined in the whole Province.
But though there were more Macdonells from Glengarry in Scotland
than any others, there were, as previously stated, representatives of
almost every Highland Clan and every Scottish name. A list of the
names will prove it, and as the statement has been made by one who
professes to speak authoritatively on the subject,and to know whereof
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he speaks, and writes that “ the Scotch and Irishelement in the United
Empire Loyalists 1s too small as compared with the preponderating
English and German to be taken into account,” I give it, with the

number of each name:

Anderson
Andrews
Armstrong
« Bethune
Bruce
~Campbell
~Cameron
Carr
S RErs
« Chisholm
Christie
. Clarke
Clark
Crawford
« Cumming
Edgar
+ Perguson
Fraser
(Gordon
Grant
Graham
Gray
Gunn
Haggart
Livingstone

28
2

5

2]

6
28

25
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Malcolm
Miller
Morrison
«+ Munro
Murchison
Murray
McAlpine
McArthur
McAuley
. McDBain
McCallum
« McCrimmon
McDonald
McDonell
, McDougall
McDuaff
McFall
McGilhs
McGregor
McGruer
Melntyre
Mclntosh
~McKay
McKenzie

<

¢

<

¢

I quote from the original list.
added, from time to time, by Order in Council, on the special
application of those who had omitted to take the precaution in the
The additions would not alter the proportion of the
I am satisfied, however, from facts within my
knowledge, that many of the Highlanders never took the trouble of

first instance.
above nomenclature.

having their names inserted at all, first or last.

I
20

5
2

I

5
2
I
I0
2
4
I

I

8
34
5
I

3
5
6
4
7
[}

I
10
8

McLaren
McLaughlin
McLean
McLellan
McLeod
McMartin
MeMaster
McMillan
McNabb
McNairn
McNaughton
McNeil
McNish
McPhee
McPherson
Ramsay
Robertson
Rose
Ross
Scott
Stewart
Stuart
Sutherland
Young

-
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Names were subsequently

Thus Bishop Mac-

donell (who came to Canada over twenty years after the Loyalists
had settled here) writing subsequently, states, ““ I had not been long
in the Province when I found that few or none of even those of you
who were longest settled in the country had legal tenures of your
properties. Aware that if trouble or coffusion took place in the Pro-
vince your properties would become uncertain and precarious, and
under this impression I proceeded to the seat of Government, where,

PN

4,
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after some months hard and unremitting labour, through the public
offices, I procured for the inhabitants of Glengarry and Stormont
patent deeds for one hundred and twenty-six thousand acres of land.”
When they would not trouble about taking out their patents, many
of them would not think of having their names inserted on the roll.

The above list is, I submit, a fair representation of those who
to-day comprise what the author of the essay referred to, Mr. George
Sandfield Macdonald, B.A., of Cornwall, is pleased to designate as
the «“ Keltic ” population of the Province of Ontario. For further
information on the subject and a comparison of the number of the
“Kelts ” with the English and Germans amongst the Loyalist settlers
of the Eastern District I refer him to Lord Dorchester’s list, simply
stating that of the three English names most frequently met with,
Smith, Jones and Brown, there were, all told, just eighty, or four
less than of one Highland Clan, while of the Germans, taking as a
criterion all the names to which the prefix “Van” is attached, from
Van Allen to Van Vorst, there were but forty-two, exactly half of the
number of those from whom the County of Glengarry took its name.

The statement to which I have referred, however, is not the only
one in this singular essay, which was read before the Celtic Society
of Montreal, which requires explanation and correction. We are
gravely informed that the “ ¢ Keltic * settlers in Canada of the period
spoken of” (the early settlement of Glengarry, 1783-6) “had no
mental qualifications to entitle them to take rank with the founders of
the American plantations,” that “unlike the Puritans of New Eng-
land, the Catholics of Maryland, the Cavaliers of Virginia, the
Huguenots of South Carolina and the followers of William Penn, the
compelling force leading to change of country was in contrast to the
motives of a higher order, as in those cases,” that long subjection to
the despotism of chiefs and landlords had numbed the finer quaiities
and instincts,” and that “even the physique had degenerated
under oppression.” We are told, too, that an analysis is required of
the generations which have succeeded the original settlers, psycho-
logical and sociological no less, to grasp the full significance of the
lives and actions of those he is pleased to consider ‘“distinguished
individuals,” and the “ people ” among whom they deigned to move,
which was a very gracious condescension on the part of these
distinguished individuals, seeing that “ the experience and ideas of
the ‘people’ were confined within the smoke of their own bush
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fires.” Now, all this may be very fine writing, and display a large
amount of culture in one doubtless a typical specimen of the mod-
ern distinguished individuals referred to, but it is very grievous
rubbish nevertheless, and a most uncalled for and gross calumny on
the men who left Scotland and settling in Canada, after fighting
through the War, were largely instrumental, not only in preserving it
by their prowess, but developing it from the primeval forest to
the fruitful land it is to-day.  Their descendants will neither credit
nor relish the unworthy sneers at the stunted limbs and intellects and
ignoble motives of those to whom they have every reason to look
back with pride, and who laid the foundations of the homes and
Institutions we now enjoy. 3

This, however, is a digression.  The facts are there to speak for
themselves, and are themselves a refutation of the theories and
allegations of the essayist—as well might he tell us that the men of
the same generation who entered the Highland Regiments, and to
whom Pitt referred, were feeble and stunted of limb, with their finer
qualities numbed and their instincts dwarfed by years of oppression
and tyranny of ¢ so-called chieftains.”

Glengarry, where they settled, is the most easterly County of
what is now the Province of Ontario, “ the upper country of Can-
ada,” to the south being the River St. Lawrence, on the east the
Counties of Soulanges and Vaudreuil in the Province of Quebec, to
the north the County of Prescott, and the west that of Stormont,
Alexandria, which may be considered the centre of the County, is
about mid-way between the St. Lawrence and Ottawa Rivers, and is
about equi-distant from the political and commercial capitals of the
Dominion—or to be precise, fifty-six miles from Ottawa and fifty-
four from Montreal. The United Empire Loyalists of course settled
largely in the front of the County, along the banks of the River St.
Lawrence, the later emigrants locating themselves in rear of the pre-
ceding ones to the north.

Mr. Croil, in his “Sketch of Canadian History,” gives an
admirable description of the situation and condition of the United
Empire Loyalist soldier-settler in the adjacent County of Dundas,
equally applicable, of course, to his late comrade in arms in Glen-
garry. The circumstances of the officers and their families were
necessarily somewhat better; as having the pensions of their respect-
ive ranks at the date of the reduction of the various corps,
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they could rely upon a supply of ready money at certain stated
intervals, and though the amount was comparatively small, yet money
went far in those primitive days, and their families had but few
opportunities of indulging any extravagant tastes they might have
acquired from their former circumstances of life. Owing to the
number of officers who settled in the Eastern District of the Province
they formed among themselves a society quite equal to that of any
portion of the Province, while their birth and education enabled them
to hold their own with the official circles at York or among the
largely mercantile aristocracy of Montreal when occasion arose for
them to visit either of those places. Such was their number that a
Board of Officers, composed of Colonel John Macdonell (Aberchal-
der), of Glengarry, Captain John Macdonell (Scotus), of Cornwall,
and the Reverend John Stuart (formerly Chaplain Second Battalion,
King’s Royal Regiment of New York), of Kingston, was required
to administer the necessary oaths to enable them to draw their
pensions from time to.time.

Mr. Croil states the Proclamation of Peace between Great
Britain and the United States of America witnessed at least a partial
fulfilment of the prophecy that “men shall beat their swords into
plough-shares and their spears into pruning hooks.” The brave and
loyal subjects, who during the fierce struggle which then culminated
had remained faithful to the British Crown, being no longer required
to fight their country’s battles, were now destined in a very different
way to add to their country’s greatness. It was determined that
liberal grants of land should be freely given to the disbanded
soldiers. This was simply characteristic of that principle of high
honour and justice which, in every period of its history, has distin-
guished the British Government. The properties of all who had
withstood the Republican Government in the States were of course
confiscated, and peace being proclaimed, not only was the soldier’s
occupation gone, but his farm and all his earthly possessions were
forfeited for ever.

Having arrived at Cornwall, or ¢ New Johnstown ” as it was then
called, in compliment to Sir John and the capital of their former
settlement in the fertile Mohawk Valley, the soldiers found the Gov-
ernment Land Agent, and forthwith proceeded to draw by lottery
the lands that had been granted to them. The townships in which
the different corps were to settle being first arranged, the lots were
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numbered on small slips of paper, and placed in a hat, when each
soldier in turn drew his own. As there was no opportunity for
examining the comparative quality of the lands, so there was little
choice in the matter ; but by exercising a spirit of mutual accommo-
dation, it frequently resulted, that old comrades who had stood side
by side in the ranks, now sat down side by side, on the banks of the
St. Lawrence.

With what feelings of intense interest, mingled even with awe
and melancholy, must these settlers have regarded this introduction
to their new wilderness home! How impatient each to view the
particular spot where his lot had been cast ! Everywhere save in the
neighbourhood of the Longue Sault Rapids the landscape wore an
aspect of wild and gloomy solitude : its solemn stillness interrupted
only by the deep murmuring of the mighty river as it rolled along its
flood to the ocean. On leaving the river, the native grandeur of the
woods, tenanted only by the Indian hunter and his scarce more sav-
age prey, must have filled them with amazement. Well might they
exclaim, is this our inheritance, our future home! Are these to be
at once our enemies and our associates! Can it be that these giant
denizens of the forest are to succumb to our prowess, and that this
vast wilderness is to be converted into fruitful fields !

The first operation of the new settler was to erect a shanty.
Each, with his axe on his shoulder, turned out to help the other, and
in a short time every one in the little colony was provided: with a
snug log cabin. All were evidently planned by the same architect,
differing only in size, which was regulated by the requirements of the
family, the largest not exceeding twenty feet by fifteen feet inside,
and of one storey in height. They were built somewhat similar to
the modern back-woodman’s shanty. Round logs, roughly notched
together at the corner, and piled one above another, to the height of
seven or eight feet, constituted the walls. Openings for a door, and
one small window, designed for four lights of glass seven by nine,
were cut out—the spaces between the logs were chiuked with small
splinters, and carefully plastered outside and inside, with clay for
mortar  Smooth straight poles were laid lengthways of the building,
on the walls, to serve as supports for the roof. This was composed
of stripes of elm bark, four feet in length, by two or three feet in
width, in layers, overlapping each other, and fastened to the poles by
withs. With a sufficient slope to the back, this formed a roof which
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was proof against wind and weather. An ample hearth, made of
flat stones, was then laid out, and a fire back of field stone or small
boulders, rudely built, was carried up as high as the walls. Above
this the chimney was formed of round poles notched together, and
plastered with mud. The floor was of the same materials as the
walls, only that the logs were split in two, and flattened soas to make
a tolerably even surface. As no beards were to be had to make a
door until they could be sawn out by the whip saw, a blanket sus-
pended from the inside for some time took its place. By and by,
four little panes of glass were stuck into a rough sash, and then the
shanty was complete ; strangely contrasting with the convenient
appliances and comforts of later days. The total absence of furni-
ture of any kind whatever, was not to be named as an inconvenience
by those who had lately passed through the severest of hardships.
Stern necessity, the mother of invention, soon brought into play the
ingenuity of the old soldier, who, in his own rough and ready way,
knocked together such tables and benches as were necessary for
household use.

As the sons and daughters of the U. E.’s became of age, each
repaired to Cornwall, and presented a petition to the Court of Quar~
ter Sessions, setting forth their rights ; when, having properly identi-
fied themselves, and complied with the necessary forms, the Crown
Agent was authorized to grant each of them a deed for two hundred
acres of land, the expenses incurred not exceeding in all two dollars.
In addition to the land spoken of, the settlers were otherwise pro-
vided by Government with everything that their situation rendered
necessary—food and clothes for three years, or until they were able
to provide these for themselves; besides, seed to sow on their new
clearances, and such implements of husbandry as were required.
Each received an axe, a hoe and a spade; a plough and one cow
were allotted to two families; a whip and cross cut-saw to every
fourth family, and even boats were provided for their use, and placed
at convenient points of the river. They were of little use to them
for a time, as the first year they had no grists to take to mill.

But that nothing might seem t¢ be awanting, on the part of Gov-
ernment, even portable corn mills, consisting of steel plates, turned by
hand like a coffee mill, were distributed amongst the settlers. The
operation of grinding in this way, was of necessity very slow ; it came
besides to be considered a menial and degrading employment, and,
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as the men were all occupied out ot doors, it usually fell to the lot
of the women, reminding us forcibly of the Hebrew women of old,
similarly occupied, of whom we have the touching allusion in Holy
Writ, “ Two women shall be grinding at the mill, the one shall be
taken and the other left.”

In most cases, the settlers repaired to Cornwall each spring and
fall, or during the winter, and dragged up on the ice, by the edge of
the river, as much as he could draw on a hand sled. Porkwas then,
as now, the staple article of animal foed; and it was usual for the
settlers, as soon as they had received their rations, to smoke their
bacon, and then hang it up to dry; sometimes it was thus left incau-
tiously suspended outside all night: the result not unfrequently was,
that, while the family was asleep, the quarter’s store of pork would
be unceremoniously carried off by the wolves, then very numerous
and troublesome, and in no wise afraid of approaching the shanty of
the newly arrived settler. Frequently, too, during the night, would
they be awakened by these marauders, or by the discordant sounds
of yigs and poultry clustering round the deor to escape from their
fangs.

There was in former times a deal of valuable timber standing in
the Counties. Huge pine trees were cut for ship’s masts, measuring
from ninety to one hundred and twenty feet in length, and from forty
to forty-eight inches in diameter, when dressed for market. One such
piece of timber must have weighed from twenty or twenty-five tons,
These mast trees were dragged from the woods by from twelve
to sixteen pairs of horses. A single tree was sold in Quebec as a
bow-sprit -for $200. Of white oak, averaging when dressed from
forty-five to sixty-five cubic feet, and of the best Canadian quality,
there was abundance ; this found a ready market at from 2s. 6d. to

" 3s. per foot ; inferior quality of this timber was converted into stave
blocks, and also shipped to Quebec. At a later period, large quan-
tities of elm and ash were sent to market from this County, while
beech and maple, then considered worthless, were piled up in log
heaps and burned, the ashes being carefully gathered and sold to
the merchants, to be made into potash.

There being ample employment on the father’s farm, yet un-
cleared, for all his sons, there was little inducement for these to think
of setting up for themselves; as a consequence, the lands the child-
ren had drawn were of little value to them in the meantime. U. E.
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tights became a staple article of commerce, and were readily bought
up by speculators, almost as fast as they came into the hands of the
rising generation. A portion of what remained to the farmer or his
family was soon sold in payment of taxes, at sheriff’s sales, and these
lots, too, usually fell into the hands of land jobbers. Many of the
lots had never been seen by the parties who drew them, and
their comparative value was determined either by their distance
from the river, or the pressing necessity of the party holding
them. It thus happened that lands in the rear townships, which in
a very few years brought from twenty to thirty dollars per acre, were
then considered worthless ; and lots éven more favourably situated,
in respect to locality, were sold, if not for an old song, at least for a
new dress, worth perhaps from three to four dollars in cash. We
have even been told credibly that two hundred acres of land, upon
which now stands a flourishing village in the adjoining County of
Dundas, was, in these early days, actually sold for a gallon of rum.
The usual price of fair lots was from $25 to $30, some even as high
as $50 per 200 acres. At $30 the price would be fifteen cents per
acre. The same lands were even then resold to settlers, as they
gradually came in from Britain and the United States, at a price of
from $2 to $4 per acre, thus yielding a clear profit to the speculator
of rooo per cent. on his investment, a profit in comparison with
which, the exorbitant interest of later days sinks into utter insignifi-
cance.

The summer months were occupied by the early settlers in
burning up the huge logs that had previously been piled together,
and in the sooty and laborious work of re-constructing their charred
and smouldering remains into fresh heaps ; the surface was than raked
clear of chips and other fragments, and in the autumn the wheat was
hoed in by hand. During winter every man was ifi the woods, mak-
ing timber, or felling the trees to make way for another fallow. The
winters were then long, cold and steady, and the fall wheat seldom
saw the light of day till the end of April; the weather then setting
in warm, the dormant breaks of wheat early assumed a healthy and
luxuriant vegetation. Thistles and burdocks, the natural result of
slovenly farming, were unknown, and neither fly nor rust, in these
good old days, were there to blight the hopes of the primitive farmer.
The virgin sold yielded abundantly her increase ; ere long there was
plenty in the land for man and beast, and, with food and raiment,
the settler was contented and prosperous.



66

There was in the character of the early settlers that which com-
manded the admiration and respect of all who were brought into
contact with them.  Naturally of a hardy and robust constitution,
they were appalled neither by danger nor difficulties, but manfully
looked them fair in the face, and surmounted them all. Amiable in
their manners, they were frugal, simple and regular in their habits.
They were scrupulously honest int their dealings, affectionate in alt
their social relations, hospitable to strangers, and faithful in the dis-
charge of duty.

While we say this much of the early settler, let us not be under-
stood as wishing to hold them up as paragons of perfection—as
examples in all things to their descendants. They had their failings,
as well as their virtues, but we must make allowances for the circum-
stances in which they were placed. They were charged by the
early missionaries, and perhaps with some degree of truth,
“as wofully addicted to carousing and dancing,” but these were the
common and allowed amusements of the times in which they lived.
It may, however, be said with truth, that forms of licetiousness and
profligacy, which are not uncommon in the present day, would have
aroused the indignation of the early settler, and met with reprobation,
if not chastisement at their hands. It is true, they were not of those
who made broad their phylacteries, or were of a sad countenance, dis-
figuring their faces, and for a pretence made long prayers. Innured
to a life of hardship and toil,—without the check of a Gospel
ministry, and exposed to the blunting influence of the camp, the
barrack and the guard room, we must be content to find them but
rough examples of Christian life. The scrupulous and distrustful
vigilance, however, with which modern professors of every creed eye
their fellow men, and require every pecuniary engagement, no matter
how trivial, to be recorded in a solemn written obligation, stands out
in striking contrast to the practice of the early settlers, among whom
all such written agreements were unknown, every man’s word being
accounted as good as his bond. Lands were conveyed and pay-
ments promised by word of mouth, and verbal agreements were held
as sacred as the most binding of modern instruments.

In course of a few years the settlers were enabled to supply
themselves with the necessaries of life from the mill and the store,
and the roving and dissipated life of the soldier was forgotten, in the
staid and sober habits of the hard working tarmer. A few of a more
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adventurous turn of mind at times would man a boat, and, ascending
the river to Oswego, take a circuitous route by lakes and rivers,
betimes carrying their boats shoulder high for miles at a stretch, and
finally reach the green valley of the Mohawk, dear to them still in
memory. Returning, they brought such articles of merchandize with
them as they could transport, and, providing themselves with a pass-
port at Carleton Island, they swiftly glided down the river. The
following is a copy of such a passport :—

Inward. Permit the boat going from this to pass to
John Loucks, | Kingston with their provisions, family, clothing,
beding, household furniture and farming utensils,
they having cleared out at this post, as appears
X by their names i the margin. Given under my
three children. | hand at Fort Ontario, z1st day of May, 1795.

To whom concerned. A. McDONELL, P.O. (1)

Having sufficiently trespassed on Mr. Croil’s pages, I shall now
quote from those of Judge Pringle.(2) The latter is himself a des-
cendant of a United Empire Loyalist family, and has certainly done
much towards collecting such records relating to them as are at this
late date accessible :

It is unfortunate that no effort was made in the early days of the
settlement to preserve records of the services, the labours and the
sufferings of the U. E. Loyalists both before and after their coming to
Canada.

One can easily understand why such records are so few. For
many years after 1784 there were but few who were able to keep
a diary, and they, in common with the rest of the settlers, were too
busy, too much engaged in the stern work of subduing the forest and
making new homes, to have much time for anything but the struggle
for existence.

Each U. E. Loyalist had some story to tell of the stirring times
through which he had passed. Some of the older men could speak
of service in the French war, under Howe, Abercrombie, Wolte,
Ambherst or Johnson ; perhaps of the defeat of Braddock, or of the
desperate fight at the outworks of Ticonderoga, where Montcalm
drove back Abercrombie’s troops; of success at Frontenac or
Niagara ; of scaling the Heights at Quebec, and ot victory with Wolfe
on the Plains of Abraham ; of the long and perilous voyage down the

two men,
two women,

(1) Croil’s “Dundas, ora Sketch of Canadian History,” pp. 129-141,
(2) *‘Lunenburg, or Old Eastern District,” p 29, et seq.
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St. Lawrence with Amherst, and of the capitulation of Montreal.
There were but few who could not tell of adventures in the Seven
Years’ War from 1776 to 1783, and of loss of home, property and
friends, for the part they took in it ; while many could speak from
personal experience of cruel wrong and persecution suffered by them
as a punishment for their loyalty. No doubt when neighbours met
together on a winter evening to chat beside the great fireplace filled
with blazing logs, many an hour was passed in the telling of tales of
the troubles and adventures they had encountered. These stories
have gradually faded and become dim in the recollection of the
people ; here and there a few facts can be got from some family that
has cherished the remembrance of them as an heirloom. A Fraser
could tell of the imprisonment and death of a father; a Chisholm of
imprisonment, and escape through the good offices of a brother
Highlander in the French service; a Dingwall of the escape of a
party through the woods, of sufferings from cold and hunger, of
killing for food the faithful dog (1) that followed them, and dividing
the carcase into scanty morsels ;- a Ferguson of running the gauntlet,
imprisonment, sentence of death, and escape; an Anderson of
service under Ambherst, of the offer first of a company, then of a
battalion, in the Continental Army, as the price of treason, of being
imprisoned and sentenced to death, and of escape with his fellow-
prisoner to Canada. :

It is probable that not a few of the Highlanders could tell of
service on one side or the other in the abortive rising under “ Bonnie
Prince Charlie ” in 1745, which, after successful actions at Preston
Pans and Falkirk, was quenched in blood on Culloden Muir in 1746.
Some, like John McDonell (Scotus), (z) might be able to show a
claymore with blade dented by blows on the bayonets of Cumber-
land’s Grenadiers.

(1) One of the party got the dog’s tail, which he ate with great relish, declaring it to be the
sweetest morsel he ever tasted. 2

(2) Grandfather of the late Donld /Eneas McDoneli, at one time Sheriff of the Eastern
District and for many years Warden of the Kingston Penitentiary. John Macdonell, who was a
Captain in the K. R. ¥{. N. Y., was known as “Spanish John,” from the fact of his having been
long in the Spanish Service.



CHAPTER 7.

Lovavrists i tHE UpPER CoUNTRY oF CANADA DESIRE A
CHANGE IN THE TENURE OF LAND AND SEPARATION FROM
THE PROVINCE OF QUEBEC.—ADDRESS To LoRD DORCHESTER
FROM LEADING SETTLERS IN GLENGARRY AND VICINITY.—
His ReErLy.—HE RECOMMENDS ACQUIESCENCE IN REQUEST
oF LovaLisTs.—FORMATION OF DISTRICTS OF LUNENBURG,
MECKLENBURG, NASSAU AND HESSE BY PROCLAMATION, 24TH
Jury, 1788.—ProvINCE oF UpPER CANADA KESTABLISHED
AND CONSTITUTIONAL GOVERNMENT ASSIGNED TO ITS PEOPLE,
26TH DECEMBER, 1791.—DIvIDED INTO COUNTIES.—FIRST
CoMMISSION OF THE PEACE, EASTERN DISTRICT.—EXTRACTS
FROM RECORDS OF FIRST COURT OF THE DISTRICT.

Shortly after their settlement in the Upper Country, some
among the leaders of the Loyalists took strong exception to the
tenure of land in Canada, alleging that it subjected them to the
rigorous rules, reservations and restrictions of the French laws and
customs, which they found far different from the mild tenures to
which they had ever been accustomed, and on behalf of the officers
and soldiers of the Provincial Troops and Indian Department, they
forwarded in April, 1785, a petition to the King, in which they pro-
posed as a remedy against the hardships indicated that a district
from Point au Boudet (the south-east limit of the present County of
Glengarry and of the now Province of Ontario) westward should be
formed, distinct from the Province of Quebec; that it should be
divided into counties, with Cataraqui (now Kingston) for its metro-
polis, and that the land therein should be held on the same tenure,
practically, as existed in England.

The reasons and considerations respecting the proposals are
given at length by the petitioners in a very able document. They
alleged that they had been born British Subjects, and had ever been
accustomed to the government and laws of England ; that it was to
restore that government and be restored to those laws, for which from
husbandmen they became soldiers, animated with the hope that,
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even in the most gloomy aspect of public affairs, should they fail in
their attempts to recover their former habitations by a restoration of
the King’s Government, they would still find a refuge in some part of
the British Dominions where they might enjoy the blessings to which
they had been accustomed, and that they still professed the greatest
confidence that through His Majesty’s gracious interposition they
would be exempt from the burden of the tenures complained of, which,
however congenial they might be to men born and bred under them,
were nevertheless in the highest degree exceptionable to Englishmen.
They cited the case of the settlers in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick,
and asked to be placed in the same relative situation with the inhab-
itants of those Provinces.

Again, on the return to Canada of Sir Guy Carleton, now Lord
Dorchester, who had a second time been appointed Governor-
General of Canada, and who was much beloved by his old soldier
comrades of the earlier period of the RevolutionaryWar, (1) addresses
were presented to him from the leading settlers in the neighborhood
of New Johnstown (Cornwall), Oswegatchie (Oswego and vicinity)
and Cataraqui (Kingston), in which latter the matter of land tenure
was again alluded to.

That from New Johnstown was as follows :—

«“To His Excellency the Right Honourable Lord Dorchester,
Governor-General and Commander-in-Chief of all His Majesty’s
Forces in British America, &c., &c.

« The address of the subscribers on behalf of themselves and
the other inhabitants in the neighbourhood of New Johns Town,

(1) SirGuy Carleton had been Governor-General and Commander-in-Chief of the Canadas
from 1768 to June, 1778, when he was replaced by Sir Frederick Haldimand, He was, on his
elevation to the Peerage as Baron Dorchester, re-appointed to his former position and command
in October, 1786, and so continued until July, 1796, and thus served longer by far than any other
Governor-General since the  onquest of Canada. He was the descendant of an ancient family
which had lived in Cornwall, England, for centuries previous to the Norman Conquest. He was
born about 1725, and entered the army at an early age. He_ accompanied Wolfe’s Expedition to
Canada, was present at the first and second battles on the Plains of Abraham; was specially
mentioned in despatches by both Townshend and Murray; continued under the command of the
latter and became Brigadier-General, To his bravery, activity and self-possession, may largel
be attributed the salvation of Canada at the breaking out of the Revolutionary War, when wit
but 80o men at his disposal he successfully resisted the attacks of the American Generals Arnold,
Montgomery and Morgan  Upon Burgoyne being appointed Commander-in-Chief in America,
considering “himself slighted by the Government, he, n a despatch to Lord George Germaine
dated 27th June, 17ﬂ]7. requested his reca'l, ““being fearful that the marks of Your Lordship’s
displeasure should effect not me but the King’s Service and the tranquility of his people, nor
thinking it wise that the private enmity of the King’s servants should add to the disturbances of
his reign.”  In 1782 he was appointed to succeed Sir Henry Clinton as Commander-in-Chief of
all His Majesty’s Forcesin America. When elevated to the Peerage in 1786, Parliament voted
him a pension of 41,000 per annum during his life, th -t of his wife and eldest son. It is impos-
sible to estimate the value of his public services to Canada. He married a daughter of the second
Earl of Effingham, by whom he left a large family, He died in 1808, aged eighty-three years.
His name is commemorated in the metropolitan County of Carleton in Ontario and the County of
Dorchester in Quebec.—Morgan’s Celebrated Canadians.
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comprehending six Townships from Point au Boudet upwards.

¢ Permit us, my Lord, to congratulate you upon your safe arnval
once more into this Province, and to participate in the general joy
which this event has occasioned, a joy which can be only equalled
by the regret which was felt upon your departure.

“ Qur warmest thanks are due to Your Lordship for your early
attention to our wants. This proof of your regard, with many others,
will never be erased from the memory of us or our posterity. We
shall teach our children to venerate the name and the memory of the
man who at all times and on all occasions has ever distinguished
himself as our advocate and our friend.

“We feel the most sensible pleasure on the marks of honour as
well as power conferred on Your Lordship by Our Most Gracious
Sovereign, who is ever desirous to reward distinguished merit, and
we are thankful to Providence for having dictated a choice which of
all others is the most approved of by the universal voice of all classes
and all denominations of people.

“We cannot omit this opportunity of acknowledging our grati-
tude to His Majesty for his Royal favour and patronage, and we must
request Your Lordship to be so good as to signify to Our Most Gra-
cious Sovereign that this infant settlement, though at a remote dis-
tance from the Throne, is nevertheless peopled with subjects ani-
mated with sentiments of the warmest zeal and attachment to His
Person and Government. .

“To conclude, may you My Lord, Lady Dorchester and your
family enjoy every pleasure that health, honor and affluence, united
to the conciousness of having contributed to the happiness of many,
can bestow.

“ New Johnstown, 2nd December, 1786.

“James Gray, Major King’s Royal Regiment of New York.
Ricaarp Duncan, Captain late Royal Regiment of New York.
ALLAN MACDONELL, Captain late Royal Regiment of New York.
ALEXANDER MACDONELL, Captain late Royal Regiment New York.
ARCH'D MACDONELL, Captain late Royal Regiment of New York.
J~o. MacpoNELL, Captain late Royal Regiment of New York.
HueH MACDONELL, Lieut. late King’s Royal Regiment New York.
S. ANpERsON, Captain late Royal Regiment of New York.
MarcoLm McMARTIN, Lieut. late Royal Regiment of New York.
RicH’p WiLkinsoN, Lieut. late Six Nations Indian Department.
Perer Evirirr, Lieut. late Royal Regiment of New Yoik.

NEeiL McLeaxN, Lieut. late Eighty-Fourth Regiment.

J. ANDERSON, Lieut. late Royal Regiment of New York.

JacoB FarRraND, Lieut. late Royal Regiment of New York.
WiLLiam FAULKNER, C.P.

WALTER SUTHERLAND, Lieut. late Royal Regiment of New York.”

His Lordship’s reply to these addresses, directed to Mr. Stephen
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Delancy, who had been charged with the presentation of them, was
as follows :

“ QUEBEC, 14th December, 1786.

LESTRS
“ You will communicate to the inhabitants of the Townships of
New Johnstown, Oswegatichie and Cataraqui, my thanks for their
professions of regard for me. You will at. the same time assure them
that nothing could be more acceptable to me than the sense of grati-
tude they testify for His Majesty’s paternal attention to their situa-
tion, and which they so warmly and so dutifully express. Agreeable
to their request, the memorials shall be transmitted and laid at the
foot of the Throne.
“ 1 am, with regard,
“Your most obedient servant,

“ DORCHESTER.”

“ Inspector of Loyalists.”
The addresses were transmitted to the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, with the following communication from His Excellency :

“ Stephen Delancy, }

“QUuUEBEC, 3rd January, 1787.
“MyLoRrD, v

“ The addresses from the settlements of New Johnstown, Oswe-
gatchie and Cataraqui are sent to Your Lordship, as it is requested
that their sentiments of gratitude and zeal and attachment to His
Majesty may be transmitted.

“They also express hopes that the same privileges and indul-
gences which their fellow-sufferers and fellow-subjects enjoy in the
other new formed settlements in British America will be extended to
them. I asked Mr. Delancy, who presented the addresses, what
their general expressions meant. He answered that he thought they
regarded the terms on which they were to hold their lands.

“ The conditions of lands held in Canada en roture is in truth
much more heavy and disadvantageous than in any other Province in
Anmerica, but of this I hope to be able to write more fully to Your
Lordship in the course of next summer. My answer is also enclosed.

“ Many other addresses have been presented, but as they con-
tained no matter which requires particular notice, I have not trans-
mitted them to Your Lordship.

“ 1 am, with respect and esteem,
“Your Lordship’s most obedient
“ And most humble servant,

“ DORCHESTER.

“Lord Sydney,

“The Right Honourable }
., 8
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Up to this time, the Province of Quebec was divided into two
Districts, viz.: those of Quebec and Montreal, the latter containing
the whole of the territory which the Loyalists thus sought to have
erected into a separate District, and which now constitutes the great
Province of Ontario. Lord Dorchester was as good as his word to
the Western Loyalists, and having represented the matter to the
Home Government, he, by the King’s instructions, on the 24th July,
1788, issued a proclamation whereby four new Districts were formed,
that of Lunenburg, extending from the eastern limit of Lancaster
northerly to Point Fortune on the Ottawa, and westerly to the mouth
of the River Gananoque. It comprehended the Townships of Lan-
caster, Charlottenburg, Cornwall, Osnabruck, Williamsburg, Matilda,
Edwardsburg, Augusta and Elizabethtown, all of them extending
northward to the Ottawa River. The other Districts were Mecklen-
burg, extending from Gananoque to about Belleville, Nassau from
the latter place to Long Point on Lake Erie, and Hesse comprising
the rest of Canada to the western boundary of the present Province
of Ontario. The territorial nomenclature was calculated to inspire
the House of Guelph with a lively interest in the welfare of the
infant settlement |  Previous to the formation of the four new Dis-
tricts, and while the upper country still formed portion of the District
of Montreal, magistrates had been appointed, though the Commis-
sion under which they acted cannot now be found nor its date ascer-
tained. Judge Pringle states, however, that it must have been pre-
vious to the 2gth July, 1786, as there is a commission dated on that
day to “Samuel Anderson, of New Johnstown (Cornwall), one of
His Majesty’s Justices of the Peace in and for the District of
Montreal,” authorizing him to administer oaths to certain parties in
a matter before the court, and he is of the opinion that the gentlemen
who held commissions in the disbanded battalions were generally
appointed magistrates. He mentions that there is no record of their
having held any Courts of General Sessions of the Peace before the
issuing of Lord Dorchester’s proclamation, though there are tradi-
tions of Magistrates’ Courts having been held, and of rough and
ready justice being summarily dealt out to offenders.

The same authority, and there is none better, states :

“The first Court in the District of Lunenburgh, of which any
record exists, was the General Quarter Sessions of the Peace, held at
Osnabruck on the 15th day of June, 1789. It is not stated in what



74

part of Osnabruck the Court met ; the place must have been in the
front, probably near what is now known as Dickinson’s Landing.
The records of the Courts of General Sessions for the District of
Lunenburgh—atterwards the Eastern District, and now the United
Counties of Stormont, Dundas and Glengarry—have been very care-
fully kept; the books containing the minutes of the proceedings
from the 15th of June, 1789, until the present time, are in the office
of the Clerk of the Peace at Cornwall. They contain the names of
Magistrates, Officers of the Court, Jurors, and parties to cases tried,
and not a little information of the olden time that may be of interest
to the present generation.

The magistrates who had been appointed before the Province of
Upper Canada was formed, continued to act and to hold the Courts
of General Quarter Sessions, until Lieutenant-Governor Simcoe
issued a new Commission of the Peace for the Eastern District. This
Commission, which is now among the records in the office of the
Clerk of the Peace at Comwall, is dated at the Government House,
Navy Hall, * on the toth day of June, 1793. The old magistrates
were re-appointed, and some new ones were added to the original
number. The names of those in the commission of 1793 are: e
Honourable William Osgoode, Chief Justice (1) ; William Dummer
Powell, Esquire (2); the Honourable Alexander Grant (3); the
Honourable Peter Russell (4); the Honourable James Baby (5);
Richard Duncan (6), John McDonell (7), John Munro (8), James
Gray (9), Edward Jessup (10), Walter Sutherland (r1), William
Falkner (12), Richard Wilkinson (13), William Byrnes (14), Thomas-
Swan (15), Jeremiah French (16), Archibald McDonell (17), Allen
McDonell (18), William Fraser (19), Peter Drummond (20), Justus
Sherwood (21), Ephraim Jones (22), William Buel (23), Thomas
Sherwood (24), Alexander McMillan (25), Alexander McDonell (26),
Samuel Anderson (27), Joseph Anderson (28), James Stuart (29),
Allan Patterson (30), Malcolm McMartin (31), Samuel Wright (32),
James Brackenridge (33), Alexander Campbell, of Augusta (34);
Neil McLean (35), Miles McDonell (36), Vermiel Lorimier (37),
Hugh McDonell (38), Alexander Campbell, of Johnstown (39);
Thomas Fraser (40), Andrew Wilson (41) and Neil Robertson (a2)t,

* At Niagara, then the seat of Government. -

# I have taken considerable trouble to trace the record of these gentlemen. The first five
were ex-officio commissioners, It will be seen that the remainder were almost without exception
officers of the disbanded Loyalist Regiments. The personnel of Commission contrasts not
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Esquires, who are directed “ to enquire the truth most fully, by the
oath of good and lawful men of the aforesaid District, of all and all
manner of felonies, poisonings, inchantments, sorceries, arts magick,
trespasses, forestallings, regratings, ingrossings, and extortions what-
sozver, and of all and singular other crimes and offences of which
the Justices of the Peace may or ought lawfully to enquire.”

On the 26th December, 1791, the division of the Provinces of
Upper and Lower Canada took place, Constitutional Government
was granted, and the people, through their representatives, were
placed in a position to settle the tenure of their lands and other
matters for themnselves. Lieutenani-Governor Simcoe issued a
Proclamation, dated the 16th day of June, 1792, dividing the Province
into Counties, the easternmost of which were then, as now, styled Glen-
garry, Stormont and Dundas. At the first session of the Legislature
of Upper Canada, in 1792, an Act was passed changing the names of
the Districts. Under that Act the District of Lunenburgh became
the Eastern District.

The oldest book of the records of the Court of General Quarter
Sessions of the Peace for the District of Lunenburgh shows that the
first session of that Court began at Osnabruck on the 15th day of
June, 1789. The magistrates present were :—

John McDonell, Justus Sherwood,
Richard Duncan, Ephriam Jones,
James Gray, William Falkner,
Thomas Swan, William Fraser,
Jeremiah French, Archibald McDonell.

unfavorably, with those of the present day in the Province of Ontario :~—1. Chief Justice of Upper
Canada. 2. Then Commissioner of Oyer and Terminer of Upper Canada; Chief Justice, 1815,
3, 4 and 5. Members of the Executive and Legislative Council of Upper Canada. 6. Legislative
Councillor of Upper Canada; formerly a Captain First Battalion King’s Royal Regiment of New
York. 7. Formerly a Captain Butler’s Corps of Rangers; Speaker First Parliament of Upper
Canada and Lieutenant-Colonel Second Battalion Royal (anadian Voluntcer Regiment
of Foot. 8, Formerly Captain King’s Royal Regiment of N.Y,, First Battalion. g. Form-
erly Major K.R.R.N.Y, 10. Formerly Major Commandant Loyal Rangers. 11. Formerly
Licutenant K R.R.N Y. 12. Name on Lord Dorchester’s list as U. E; Corps and rank not
stated. 13. Lientenant Six Nations Indian Department 14. Captain K. R. R. N, V,
15. Name on Lord Dorchester’slist as U.E ; Corps and rank not statec 16, Lieuntenant K.R.
R.N Y., Second Battalion. 17. Captain K R.R.N.Y,, First Battalion, 18. Captain-Lieutenant
K R.R.N.Y 19. Captain Loyal Rangers (Jessup’s Corps). 20. Captain Loyal Rangers (Jessup’s
Corps). 21. Captain Loyal Rangers (Jessup’s Corps). 22. An Officer of the Commissariat
Department. 23. Stated in Lord Dorchester’s list t» have been Ensign, Royal Rangers; name
does not appear 1n list of officers on reduction of Regiment. 24 Ensign Loyal Rangers (Jessup’s
Corps). 25. An officer in Del.ancie’s Brigade. 26. Greenfield. 27, Captain K.R.R.N.Y., First
Battalion. 28. Lieutenant K.R.R N.Y ., First Battalion. 29 Surgeon’s Mate K.R.R.N.Y. 30,
Cannot trace this gentleman. 31. Lient K R R.N.Y.1st Batt. 32, Name on Lord Dorchester’s
list as U.E.; Corps and rank not stited. 33. Captiin Loyal Rangers (Rodger’s Corps). 34 and
39 One a Lieutenant Royal Rangers. 35. Lieute ant Kighty-Fourth or Royal Highland
Emigrant Regiment. 36. Ensign K.R.R.N.Y., First Battalion. 37. (annot trace this gentle-
man, 38. Lieutenant K.R.K.N.Y , First Battalion. 40. ¢ aptain Loyal Rangers (Jessup’s
Corps). 41. Cannot trace this gentleman, 42. Lieuten nt K.R.R.N.Y,
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It is not stated who the Chairman was. The Grand Jurors
empannelled were :—

¢ Alexander Campbell (Foreman), 13 Gideon Adams,

2 Peter Drummond, 14 John Dulmage,

3 Thomas Fraser, 15 James Campbell,
4 John McKenzie, 16 Alex’r Campbell,

5 George Stewart, 17 David Brackenridge,
6 John Seymour, 18 Ephriam Curry,

7 Malcolm McMartin, 19 John Jones,

8 Neil McLean, 20 Elijah Bottom,

9 Martin Walter, 21 William Snyder,

10 John Pescod, 22 Daniel Campbell,
11 Ranald McDonell, Jr., 23 Matthew Howard,
12 Ranald McDonell, Sr., 24 Thomas Robertson.

The first case was tried on Tuesday, the 16th day of June, 1789.

The following is an exact copy of the entry of the proceedings, and
I regret that Judge Pringle’s researches compel me to chronicle the
fact that the defendantwas a namesake of my own, candour, however,
obliging me to acknowledge that I am not in the very least surprised
at the nature of the indiscretion charged against honest Ranald, who
I hope got the worth of the money out of the other fellow! A careful
examination of subsequent records of the Court of Quarter Sessions
might possibly disclose the fact that namesakes of Ranald’s have not
unfrequently contributed, in the most public-spirited manner, to the
public exchequer as the result of similar little controversies with
their neighbours, and I have been given to understand that the pri-
vilege is now somewhat more expensive than it was a hundred years
ago, when Ranald appears to have differed in opinion with Mr.

McKay:
The King, on Pros.,
Alexander McKay,

Vs, In Assault and Battery.
Ranald McDoneli,

Sent up the bill of indictment to the Grand Jury. The Grand
Jury return a true bill. The defendant, being arraigned, pleads not
guilty. It is ordered, on motion for the prosecution, that the trial
come on immediately, by consent of the defendant. The jury em-
panelled and sworn to try the issue of this traverse were :
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1 William Phillips, 7 Joseph Loucks,

2 Jacob VanAllen, 8 Anthony Wallaser,
3 Jacob Weegar, 9 John Wart,

4 Michael Hains, 10 Jjacob Merkle,

5 David Jaycocks, 11 Adoam Empey,

6 John Coons, 12 Nicholas Ault.

Witness for the prosecution, Angus McKay. The jury having
heard the evidence, retired to consider their verdict, in charge of
Duncan McArthur, bailiff. The jury having returned into court,
say, by William Phillips, their foreman, that the defendant is guilty,
as laid in the indictment. The court having considered the verdict
of the jury, it is ordered that the defendant do pay a fine of one
shilling, and that he stand committed till paid.

The following persons were appointed Constables for Glengarry :

Lancaster—Richard Fountain, Benjamin Baker.

Charlottenburg—Finnan McDonell, Charles Ross, Duncan
McArthur.
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CHAPTER 8.

SERVICES OF SIR JOHN JOHNSON.—200,000 ACRES ABANDONED
By Him IN THE UNITED STATES.—LORD DORCHESTER ReEe-
coMMENDS Him as FIRST LIEUTENANT-GOVERNOR OF UPPER
CaNADA.—PoLicY OF HOME GOVERNMENT OPPOSED TO THE
APPOINTMENT _ OF RESIDENTS TO THE GOVERNMENT.—DES-
paTcH OF THE COLONIAL SECRETARY.— First REFER-
ENCE T0 GLENGARRY  SETTLEMENT. — COLONEL  JOHN
MACDONELL (ABERCHALDER).—HE AND His BrorHER HUGH
MacCDONELL ELECTED MEMBERS IN FirsT PARLIAMENT OF
UppEr CanapA.—HE_Is ELECTED ITS SPEAKER.—LIST OF
MeMBERS.—SOME Facts RELATING TO THEM.—ACTS PASSED
AT FIRST SESSION.

Sir John Johnson, who had been so intimately associated with
those who became the first settlers of Glengarry, did not altogether
sever his connection with them. Portion of the land which was
allotted to him in consideration of his signal services to the Crown
was situated in the County of Glengarry in the immediate vicinity of
what is now known as “Stone House Point.” He had, I am told,
selected a site for his residence, of which the foundation had been
been laid, where the house now occupied by Colonel Alexander
Fraser is built on the River St. Lawrence, on what is now known as
Fraser's Point.(1)

Judge Pringle states that what are locally known as the In-
dian Lands,” a narrow strip between the western townships of Glen-
garry and the eastern ones of Stormont, are said to have been intend-
ed for Sir John Johnson, and to have been held for the Indians on
Sir John’s declining to accept of them. This, of course, would have
been a very extensive grant—many thousands of acres—yet it must
be remembered that, as stated by Mr. Stone, * he voluntarily gave up

(1) Colonel Fraser died since the above was written, June sth, 1891, much and deservedly
respected.
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domains in what is now the United States larger and fairer than had
ever belonged to a single proprietor in America, William Penn only
excepted,” and that of all the eminent men among the Loyalists none
were at all comparable to him, either as regards the extent of the
sacrifices made or the importance of the services rendered through-
out the War from its commencement to its close. Two hundred
thousand acres of valuable land was what he surrendered.

He also owned a large tract of land in the neighborhood of
Williamstown, so named by him after his father, Sir William, and
where he built the first mills. As showing the interest which Sir
John Johnson took in the County of Glengarry, it may be mentioned
that on the 25th of June, 1814, he presented to Neil McLean, then
Sheriff of the Eastern District, and his successers in office, twelve
acres of land in Williamstown for the purpose of a fair ground for
the people of the Counties, being the site of the present Glengarry
Agricultural Society grounds. He never, however, permanently re-
sided in Glengarry, the nature of his occupation not permitting of it.
He had been appointed at the close of the War Superintendent-
General and Inspector-General of the Six Nation Indians, his com-
mission as such being dated March 14th, 1782. He was Colonel-in-
Chief of the Six Battalions of Militia of the Eastern Townships, and
a member of the Legislative Council of Lower Canada, to which he
was summoned 24th January, 1797. He had been knighted by the
King in his father’s lifetime, at St. James, on the 22nd November,
1763, when but twenty-three years of age. The Rev. Mr. Campbell
mentions in his “ History of St. Gabriel Church, Montreal,” that the
Patent of Baronetcy, conferred upon his father, contains a most
singular clause, which gives the title of ¢ Knight” to the eldest son in
this family on his attaining his majority. Sir John was always, in
official documents, designated, after his father’s death, as “ Knight
and Baronet,” thus showing that the Knighthood did not merge in
the Baronetcy. He owned the Seigniory of Argenteuil, and was for
many years a conspicuous figure in Canada. He was born on No-
vember 5th, 1742, and died at his residence, St. Mary’s, in the
County of Rouville, on January 4th, 1830, in the eighty-ninth year
of his age, and was buried in the family vault at his seat on the south
side of the St. Lawrence, near Montreal. He is described in Jones’
« History of New York ” as bold, resolute, spirited, brave and active,
and his career undoubtedly proved it.
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Mr. Morgan states. in his “Celebrated Canadians” that Sir
John’s eldest son, William Johnson, entered the army, became a
Colonel in the Service, and was killed at Waterloo. He was suc-
ceeded in the Baronetcy by his eldest surviving son, Sir Adam Gor-
don Johnson, who, dying without issue, was succeeded by the pre-
sent Baronet, Sir William George Johnson, of Twickenham, England,
son of John Johnson, of Point Gliver, Montreal, a younger brother of
Sir Gordon, who died before the latter. A niece of Sir John’s be-
came Lady Clyde; a grand-daughter married Alexander, Count
Balmain, Russian Commissioner at St. Helena, and others of his
descendants made distinguished alliances.(1)

Lord Dorchester had on the 15th March, 1790, in a despatch
to the Right Honourable William Wyndham Grenville, strongly
recommended Sir*John as the first Lieutenant-Governor of Upper
Canada on the ground of his eminent services. The answer of the
Secretary of State shows, however, that not only had the appoint-
ment of Lieuntenant-Colonel Simcoe been decided upon previous to
the receipt of Lord Dorchester’s despatch, and that Simcoe had
been duly notified of the fact, but it sets out fully and clearly the
policy of the British Government then prevailing and ever since pur-
sued in regard to the appointment of residents of the Colonies to the
government of the same. No one can question its wisdom, however
great miay be his appreciation of Sir John’s services, which rendered
his claim paramount to that of Simcoe or any other individual whom-
soever. It was, I believe, the. intention to have followed the same
wise course in Canada at the time of Confederation in regard to the
appointment of the Lieutenant-Governors of the Provinces, but local
circumstarnces, the short tenure of office, and the comparatively cir-
cumscribed nature of their functions and powers, probably led to a
difterent course being adopted with regard to these officers.

The following is the despatch referred to :

(Private and Confidential.)
WHITEHALL, 3rd June, 1790.
My Lorp,—

I think it right to take this mode of mentioning to Your Lord-
ship rather than by an official despatch, that previous to the receipt
of Your Lordship’s despatch No. 20, I had submitted to His Ma-
jesty the name of Lieutenant-Colonel Simcoe for the Lieutenant
Government of Upper Canada, snpposing the proposed division of

(x) Campbell’s History of St. Gabriel StreetPresbyterian Church, Montrea l.
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the Province of Quebec to be carried into effect, and that I had been
directed by His Majesty to express to that officer His Majesty’s
approbation of his appointment.

In making this selection, I had not overlooked the situation and
services of Sir John Johnson, but motives of very considerable weight
in my opinion induced me to think that the nomination of a person
belonging to that Province, and possessing such large property in it,
was not desirable, especially in the first formation of the new Gov-
ernment. The disadvantage to His Majesty’s Service which might
be expected from the effect of local habits, connections and interests
appear to me to be more than sufficient to counterbalance those
benefits which may be stated as arising from the same circumstances.

I mention this more particularly to Your Lordship because it
is uncertain whether, in the event of hostilities with Spain, Lieuten-
ant-Colonel Simcoe may not be employed on some different service,
and because even in that event I think it riglfit to apprize Your
Lordship that great objections would, in my opinion, subsist against
naming Sir John Johnson.

1 have no positive information how far Sir John Johnson has
been induced to look to this object, nor what his probable line
of conduct would be in case of disappointment. Your
Lordship will, of course, see that it is very material for me to receive
confidentally your opinion on this point, on account of the great
" embarrassment which might be thrown in the way of Government
at its first outset in the new Province, if all the members of the
Legislative Council were appointed at the recommendation of any
person, however distinguished in point of situation or services, who
was not cordially and sincerely disposed to co-operation with the
King’s representative.

I have the honour to be, i
With great truth and regard, My Lord,
Your Lordship’s most faithful and
Obedient humble servant,
W. W. GRENVILLE:
The Right Hon'ble Lord Dorchester.

An unpublished MS. diary of Major R. Mathews, of the Fifty-
Third Regiment, and Military Secretary to Lord Dorchester, the
original of which.is to be found in the Education Office, Toronto,
contains the first reference I can find to the Loyalist settlement in
Glengarry and west. It is a journal of a voyage made by him
to Detroit in 1787. Under date of May 3rd of that year, he notes,
“ General Hope spoke to me upon the situation of affairs at Detroit.”

May 4th. Signified to Lord Dorchester my feelings at being
absent from my Regiment at a time when the complexion of affairs in
the Upper Country appears rather gloomy, and my regret at the
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fiecessity of relinquishing the honour of attending him. His Lord
received and approved of my proposal to join my Regiment in the
handsomest manner ; would not allow of its making any alteration in
my situation with him, and said he had business at Detroit, etc., to
charge me with, on which he would expect me to return and
report to him in the fall, provided the situation of affairs above
would permit. 1 therefore prepared immediately to set off.

On the 17th May he arrived at Coteau du Lac, the next entry

under date 18th May being as follows :—

Got on board the bateaux at 4 o’clock, and proceeded to
Longueil, the entrance to the lake. Were there obliged to stop
owing to a violent head wind, which made the lake impracticable.
At 2 o’clock the wind moderated, and we pushed off.  Got to Point
au Baudet at 6, where one McGee, formerly in Sir John Johnson’s
Corps has a settlement, on which he has made very rapid progress.
Halted about 135 minutes, and proceeded to Point I'Toroniere ;
arrived there at half after eight o'clock, and on my way passed
Lieutenant Sutherland’s settlement, situated in a deep bay. We
were not near enough to form any judgment of the land, but
he seemed to have cleared a good deal. Halted for a few minutes,
and was just pushing off for Sir J. Johnson’s Point when a violent
gust came on, which determined me to put up for the night in an
uninhabited house.

May rgth. Set off at 4 o'clock, the wind still high and contrary,
weather disagreeably cold. Passed Mr. Falconer’s settlement at a
distance, and landed at a small house within two miles of Captain
' Alexander Macdonell’s. Walked to his house and breakfasted.
i A et The situation here is delightful and the soil very fine. He has
cleared a great deal of land, and bids fair for having a fine farm ina
cooes (Uege Jpu.nshort time. We proceed on foot to Mr. Wilkinson’s. He is situated
close to the river, by a fine creek, where he is erecting a potash and
g0 means to build a mill. There are two inconsiderable settlements
above this, and then an interval of tour miles belonging to St. Regis
Indians, the points of which and situation are very favorable for
settlement, and from the wood growing the soil must be very rich.
The first settlement from this interval is strikingly beautiful, being
situated upon an easy, regular slope, facing the_south, and defended
from the raking east and west winds. A fine island, richly clothed
with wood, and some meadow ground before it. I believe it is the
property of Major Gray. Got on this evening to the lot of one Nave
of Sir John Johnson’s Corps. He is married to a very young woman,
and has a man who was taken prisoner at Quebec in ’75 to assist
him on his farm. He is married to a Canadian woman, and these
two couples live together in the same house, consisting of a single

100m, but the neatest and most cleanly I ever saw. Here we lay.
2oth. Proceeded at 4 this morning. Still unfortunate in our
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wind. Passed the Long Sault about 2 o’clock, and got to Captain
Duncan’s about six in the evening. Drank tea here with Captain J.
Monro and Lieutenant McMartin. Walked from thence about two
miles to Thompson’s, who was in Sir J. Johnson’s Corps. A
sensible man, seemingly very industrious, having all materials ready
to enlarge his house and much ground cleared. He is married to an
old Dutch woman. It rained hard this whole day.

21st.  Set off at half after four. Stopped at Captain J. Monro’s,
two miles from where we lay and breakfasted with him. His having
been in England prevented him from building, nor has he yet
cleared much. He lives at present in a hut belonging to one of the
men. Halted here near two hours, and proceeded to Major
Jessup’s by 4 in the evening. Walked with him over the front of his
lot, which is situated opposite the Fort of Oswegatchie. He has not
yet built, but has most of the material collected and has cleared a
great deal of land. T think this lot in point of situation, regularity of
ground and goodness of it superior to any I have yet seen. The
Major came on board and proceeded with us to Captain Sherwood’s,
about four miles further. He has built a very tolerable house upon
his farm lot in New Oswegatchie, some distance from his farm, and
has already a potash going forward. We did not find him at home,
and after waiting about half an hour in hopes of seeing him we got
on board.

Of the Loyalist officers who secttled in Glengarry, probably the
most conspicuous in the future history of the Province was John
Macdonell, then younger of Aberchalder. He shortly became cone
of the most leading men in Upper Canada. He had served during
the whole Revolutionary War, first in the Eighty-Fourth or Royal
Highland Emigrants, and for the last five years and ten months in
command of a company of Butler’s Rangers. His father, Captain
Alexander Macdonell, and his brothers, who had also held commis-
sions in the several Loyalist Regiments, likewise settled in the
Township of Charlottenburgh (on the regiments being disbanded) on
the banks of the River St. Lawrence about six miles east of Cornwall,
where they drew a very large tract of land. The ruins of their
seat, destroyed many years ago by fire (in 1813), but well
known in its day as Glengarry House and renowned for its
hospitality, are still to be seen on what is now called “ Stone House
Point.” It was, I understand, the first stone and largest house

in Upper Canada.

When writs were issued by Colonel Simcoe for the election of
members for the first Parliament of Upper Canada, John Macdonell
was, together with his brother, Hugh Macdonell, returned to
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represent the County of Glengarry, which extended from the St.
Lawrence to the Ottawa River and which had two representatives.
The proclamation of Lieutenant-Governor Simcoe forming the
Province into counties, and allotting the number of representatives
was dated 16th July, 1792. Nineteen counties were formed,
namely : Glengarry, Stormont, Dundas, Grenville, Leeds, Frontenac,
Ontario, Addington, Lennox, Prince Edward, Hastings, Norrthum-
berland, Durham, York, Lincoln, Norfolk, Suffolk, Essex and Kent.
Sixteen representatives were to be returned, and for the purpose of
representation in the Legislature the following arrangements were
made : Glengarry was divided into two ridings each to send a
representative ; Stormont one member, as also Dundas and Grenville,
each ; Leeds and Frontenac together were to have a representative ;
Ontario and Addington together one member; Prince Edward
together with the late township of Adolphus, in the county of Lennox,
one member; Lennox, except Adolphus, with Hastings and
Northumberland together, to elect one member ; Durham and York
and the first riding of Lincoln were together to have but one
member ; the second riding of Lincoln one member ; the third riding
of Lincoln one member ; the fourth riding of Lincoln and the county
of Norfolk together one member ; Suffolk and Essex together one
member ; Kent, which included all the west, not Indian territories, to
the Hudson’s Bay, to have two members.

1 have had great difficulty in procuring the names of the mem-
bers of the first Legislature of the Province. It is remarkable how
little can be ascertained with regard to these matters, and I believe
it is utterly impossible to obtain a correct list of the members and
the constituencies for which they sat. The fact is, all the parliament
tary records prior to 1813 were destroyed when York was taken by
the Americans in April of that year. Copies of such of the journals
as were transmitted to England have lately been procured, but do
not contain the names of the members of the earlier Legislatures.

Dr. Canniff, in- his work “ The Settlement of Upper Canada,”
after giving a list of the Districts into which the Province was first
divided for the purposes of representation, mentions the names of
the gentlemen who sat in the first House, but in answer to an enquiry
he informs me that he is unable to assign their respective constitu-
encies. I fancy, therefore, that it is only from records in the posses-
sion of the families of people living in Canada at the time, or from
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other private sources, that a list can be compiled, and information
thus afforded would, I am sure, be acceptable to all who are inter-
ested in the early history of the Province. I will mention such facts
as I have been able to gather from books and papers within my
reach regarding the gentlemen who composed the first Legislature,
in the hope that others will throw further light upon the subject, as it
is only by such means that we can arrive at what is of much historic
interest, if not of importance.

Dr. Canniff mentions at page 534 that the following were
elected members of the first House :

1. John Macdorell, Speaker. 9. Hugh Macdonell.

2. Joshua Booth. : _1o. Benjamin Pawling.

3. Mr. Baby. 11. Nathaniel Pettit.

4. Alexander Campbell. 12, David William Smith.
5. Philip Dorland. 13. Hazelton Spencer.

6. Jeremiah French. 4. Isaac Swazy.

7. ‘Ephraim Jones. 15. — Young.

8. William Mocomb. 16. John White.

Nos. 1 and 9.—The careers of Colonel John Macdonell, the
Speaker, and Mr. Hugh Macdonell, his brother, the members for
Glengarry, are given in these pages at length.

2. Joshua Booth.—A U. E. Loyalist. His name is entered in
Lord Dorchester’s List with the note, “S. G. Sergeant,” and his
residence is there stated to have been Ernest-town. I can find
nothing to show the constituency for which he set or any other facts
relating to him.

3. Mr. Baby.—It will be observed the Christian name is not
given by Dr. Canniff. This name was long, intimately and honour-
ably associated with the County of Essex, and the presumption is
that the gentleman referied to was a member of the family of that
name resident there before the taking of Quebec by Wolfe, and that
he represented “Suffolk” and Essex. I had at first assumed it must
have been the Honourable James Baby who was appointed by
Colonel Simcoe a member of the first Executive Council of Upper
Canada at Kingston, on the 8th July, 1792, and who for many years
was Inspector-General of the Province. [ make this suggestion un-
der correction, however, as Mr. Morgan states in his Biographies
of Celebrated Canadians,” that Mr. James Baby became a member
of the Legislative as well as of the Executive Council at that tim>
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(1792), and continued in the regular and efficient discharge of the
duties of those eminent stations until his death in 1833, and he
could not well have been a member of both branches of the Legis-
lature at the same time.

4. Alexander Campbell.—MTr. Croil in his work, ¢ Dundas, or a
Sketch of Canadian History,” mentions that Alexander Campbell
was the first mamber for the County of Dundas, and states that “the
little that is known of his history presents few inducements to prose-
cute the enquiry ” as to who or what he was, adding, “ his character
is summed up in this, that he was familiarly known at the time by
the unenviable soubriquet of ‘ Lying Campbell.”” Possibly he may
have made pledges to his constituents which he was unable to carry
out, and it being the only instance of that kind which our political
history affords, his name is handed down to posterity in this unfor-
tunate manner! In Lord Dorchester’s list there appears the name
of “Alexander Campbell, Esquire,” his residence being given as the
Eastern District, and it is stated that he was a Lieutenant in the
Loyal Rangers. Probably the same person.

5. Philip Dorland.—This gentleman appears to have lived in
Adolphustown, and the presumption is that he was elected to repre-
sent the County of Prince Edward, to which the Township of
Adolphus was attached. Mr. Dorland, being a Quaker, refused to
take the oaths, and the House unanimously passed a resolution that
he was therefore incompetent to sit and vote in Parliament, where-
upon a writ issued for a new election, and Peter Van Alstine was
clected in his stead. Mr. Van Alstine also lived in Adolphustown,
and was a U. E. Loyalist, as his name appears in Lord Dorchester’s
list, with the, to me, enigmatic note, “ Cuylers, Captain.”

6. Jeremiah French.—A U. E. Loyalist, in Lord Dorchester’s
list his residence being given as the Eastern District. He was a
Licutenant in the King’s Royal Regiment of New York (Second
Battalion), in which he served nine years. I presume Mr. French
represented Grenville.

7. Ephraim Jones.—A U. E. Loyalist who settled in the Town-
ship of Augusta, County of Leeds, and was the father of the late
Mr. Justice Jonas Jones and grandfather of the late Mr. Ford Jones,
M. P., and other well-known gentlemen. Stated in Lord Dorchester’s
list to have been a Commissary. Mr. Read in “ The Lives of the
Judges” mentions that after the Revolutionary War Mr. Jones had

¥ L



87

charge of the supplies granted by the British Government to the
settlers in Upper Canada. Mr. Jones living in the County of Leeds,
the presumption would be that he represented that County ; but it
will be observed that Leeds and Frontenac were then united for pur
poses of representation, and Dr. Canniff quotes from a despatch of
Colonel Simcoe, wherein he states, “it was by good fortune that the
temporary residence I made at Kingston created sufficient influence
to enable us to bring the Attorney-General White into the House ”—
from which the inference might be drawn that Mr. White was
returned for Frontenac, in which County Kingston is situate, and
which was joined to Leeds. Mr. Ephraim Jones’ son and grandson
most worthily represented the County of Leeds at many different
times and until a quite recent period.

8. William Mocomb.—I can find no mention made of this gen-
tleman in any books to which I have access.

10. Benj. Pawling.—A U. E. Loyalist who was Captain-Lieu-
tenant in Butler's Rangers. Lord Dorchester’s list states he resided
in the Home District. No doubt he was member for one of the
ridings of Lincoln, as Butler’s Rangers settled in the Niagara Dis-
trict on the Regiment being disbanded.

r1. Nathaniel Pettit.—Resided in the Home District ; stated in
Lord Dorchester’s list to have been “an active Loyalist.”

r2. David William Smith.—Morgan’s ¢ Celebrated Canadians ”
gives an account of this distinguished gentleman. He wasa Captain
in the Fifth Foot, and was afterwards called to the Bar of Upper
Canada, with precedence as Deputy Judge Advocate ; was appointed
Surveyor-General of Lands, one of the trustees for the Six Nations
and a member of the Executive Council ; sat in the three first Par-
liaments, and was Speaker of the second and third Parliaments. For
his public services in Canada he was created a Baronet by patent
August 3oth, 1821. Died at Alnwick, England, gth May, 1837.
Mr. Bain, the Librarian at Toronto, lately procured all the valuable
public documents relating to the Province which Mr. Smith took with
him on his return to England. Probably Mr. Smith represented
Durham and York and the first riding of Lincoln.

13. Hazelton Spencer.—A U. E. Loyalist. I find from a return
of the officers of the R. C.V. Regiment that he served eleven months
with the Incorporated Loyalists, three years five months and two
days as a Volunteer in thc King’s Royal Regiment of New York, two
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years seven moriths and four daysas a Lieutenant in the same Corps,
and five years and seven months in the Second Battalion Royal
Canadian Volunteer Regiment of Foot. In 1803 he was Lieutenant
of the County of Lennox, and was also Colonel of the Lennox
Militia Regiment. No doubt he sat for Lennox in the first Parlia-
ment.

14. Isaac Swazy (Query, Swayze).—A U. E. Loyalist described
in Lord Dorchester’s list as ¢ Pilot to the New York Army,” residing
in the Home District. Mr. Swayze represented one of the ridings of
Lincoln. In 1804, when the constituencies were rearranged (not
then termed gerrymandered!) the same gentleman and Ralph
Clench, Esq., represented the second, third and fourth ridings of
Lincoln.

15. — Young.-—Several of this name (twenty in all) were U. E.
Loyalists, the most prominent being Lieuteriant John Young, form-
erly of the Indian Department, who resided in the Home District,
but whether or not he was the gentleman who sat in the House I am
unable to state.

16. John White.—The first Attorney-General of the Province
who came to Canada in 1792, and was killed in a duel with Mr.
Small, Clerk of the Executive Council, January 3rd, 180co. For
which constituency he sat I am unable to state, though from Colonel
Simcoe's despatch, before referred to, it may possibly have been
Leeds and Frontenac. Dr. Scadding, in ¢ Toronto of Old,” page
246, quotes the remarks made by the “Oracle ” and Niagara “ Con-
stellation ” regarding Mr. White at the time of his death, both highly
eulogistic.

Dr. Ryerson, in his book, “ The Loyalists of America and their
Times,” states that the members of this Assembly have been repre-
sented as “ plain, home-spun clad farmers and merchants from the
plough and the store,” and very properly remarks that “the mem-
bers of our Legislature have always, for the most part, been such
from that day to this, but many of the members of the first Parlia-
ment of Upper Canada had possessed respectable and some of thens
luxurious homes, from which they had been exiled by narrow-mindzd
and bitter enemies ; they had fought on battle fields for the country
whose forests they now burned and felled ; their home-spun gar-
ments were some of the fruits of their own industry and that of their
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wives and daughters,” remarks fully borne out by the few facts I
have stated regarding these gentlemen, from which it will be seen
they were largely composed of officers of the disbanded Regiments
of the Revolutionary War. So far as our own County is concerned
I can affirm with truth, that in the hundred years which have inter-
vened the County has never been represented by gentlemen whose
eminent public services and high station and character surpassed
those of our two first members.

Three members of the Legislative Council and five members of
the House of Assembly were present when the first Parliament
assembled.

The House having met in a camp tent at Newark (now Niagara)
on Monday, the 17th September, the first entries made in the Journals
{copies of which have lately been procured from England, and are
now to be found at the Parliamentary Libraries at Ottawa and
Toronto) are as follows :—

“ The House having met, all the members were severally sworn
in by William Jarvis, Esquire, who acted by special commission from
His Excellency.”

“The House having proceeded to the election of its Speaker, John
Macdonell, Esquire, one of the members for the County of Glen-
garry, was unanimously elected to be Speaker.”

He would appear to have served in that capacity during all that
Parliament, and, as far as can be ascertained, during the first
Session of the Second Parliament, as on the meeting of the House on
the gth June, 1798, being the second Session of the Second Parlia-
ment, it is stated in the Journals that—

“Mr. Speaker addressed the House in the following words,
to wit :—

“Gentlemen of the House of Assembly,

“As you have done me the honour to call me to the chair of this
House, I feel it a duty I owe to the recollection of the services of
Colonel Macdonell to move that in order to mark the sense I
entertain of his former situation as Speaker, a place be considered
appropriated to him during the present Session, being the first next to

the chair on the right hand side.

“To which recommendation the House unanimously agreed,
and it was ordered accordingly.”

Eight Acts were passed at the first Session of the Legislature,
the first and most important introducing the English Law in all
matters relating to Property and Civil Rights. Chapter I1. Established
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Trial by Jury. Chapter II1L. established a Standard for Weights and
Measures. Chapter I'V. Abolished the Summary Proceedings in the
Court of Common Pleas in actions under Ten Pounds Sterling.
Chapter V. Related to the Prevention of Accidents by Fire. Chapter
VI. Established the Procedure for an Easy and Rapid Recovery of
Small Debts. Chapter VII. Regulated the Toll to be taken in Mills ;
and Chapter VIIL. Provided for the building of a Gaol and Court
House in each of the four Districts of the Province, and altered
the names of the Districts to the Eastern, Midland, Home and
Western Districts respectively.

The first division which can be ascertained tock place in the
Legislature of this Province on the zoth June of that year. It is
probable that divisions had previous taken place, but owing to the
loss of so many of the Journals the first I can find is as follows. It
is interesting as showing the members of the Second Parliament
of the Province :—

“Mr. Speaker read the third time as engrossed the Bill to
avthorize and allow persons coming into this Province to bring
with them their negro slaves.

“Mr. Solicitor-General” (Robert Isaac Dey Grey, who was
then Member of the County of Stormont) “moved that the said Bill
do not pass, and that the question be thereof put (sic), and the

yeas and nays taken down in distinct columns; whereupon the
question was put and the members were as follows :

YEAS. NAYS.
Colonel Macdonell, Mr. Solicitor-General.
Mr. Beasley. Mr. Rogers.
Mr. Hardison. Mr. Cornwall.
Mr. Robinson. - Captain Wilkinson.
Captain Fraser. '
Mr. Jessup.
Mir. Street.

Mzr. Jones.



oL

CHAPTER 9.

Tre FIRsT REGIMENT RAISED IN UpPER CANADA.—THE SECOND
Batrarton R. C. V. REGIMENT OF FoOT.—LIEUTENANT-
CovLoNEL MAcDONELL, M.P. ForR GLENGARRY, PLACED 1N CoM-
MAND.—HEADQUARTERS AT FORT GEORGE.—VOLUNTEER THEIR
SERVICES TO ANY QUARTER OF THE GLOBE.—THANKS OF DUKE
OF KENT.—REDUCTION OF REGIMENT DURING PEACE OF
AMIENS.—RETURN OF OFFICERS.—LIST OF OFFICERS FIRST
OR LOWER CANADIAN BATTALION.—COLONEL MACDONELL'S
MEMORIAL.— STATE OF THE MiLITIA.— LIEUTENANTS OF
CounTIES.—COLONEL MACDONELL RECOMMENDS FORMATION
OF A CorpPs OF HIGHLAND FENCIBLES IN GLENGARRY,—
CoLoNEL BROCK APPROVES OF PROPOSAL AND TRANSMITS
RECOMMENDATION TO WAR OFFICE.—DEATH OF COLONEL
MACDONELL.

In 1794 a number of Independent Companies were in existence
in Upper Canada, which in 1796 were, with others in Lower Canada,
embodied in a Regiment of two Battalions, the second Battalion
being under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel John Macdonell,
the member for Glengarry. This Regiment was placed on the Per-
manent Establishment, and was known as the Royal Canadian
Volunteer Regiment of Foot. The Second Battalion was the first
Corps raised in Upper Canada.(x) The First Battalion was com-

(1) This distinction is not infrequently chaimed for the Queen’s Rangers, the second Corps
of that name, but the contention is as unfounded as much else that emanates from the same
source. though it is constantly dinned into our ears on every possible and impossible * occasion,
and reiterated unti! it has almost Leen recognizéd as a fact. Let me state that when Colonel
Simcee was »amed | ieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada he obtain@d leave to raise a corps of
four*hundred r..nk and file, Captain Shauk, a meritorious soldier,was appointed senior officer and
left *anuda to r-ise the corps in Engl ind, which mission being successful, they were equipped as
a light infantry corps, and embarked for Canada in Apri, 1792, Ciptain " hank received his
brevet of M jor in 1794, and on Lieutenant-Governor Simcoe leaving Canada he commanded the
Regiment until its reduction =t the Peace of Amiens in 1802 This Regiment, I believe, was
chiefly oct upied in the constriction of what is now Yonge street, running north some miles from
To:onto through the County of York to Lake Simcoe.
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manded by Lieutenant-Colonel De Longueuil, with Louis DeSala
berry as Major. The Second Battalion garrisoned this Province
from 1796 until disbanded in 1802, as did the First Battalion the
Province of Lower Canada during the same period.

Colonel Macdonell’s headquarters were at Fort George (Niagara)
during the period the Regiment was on service. Detachments were
stationed at the following places, viz.: Kingston, under Major Spen-
cer; St. Joseph’s Island, under Captain Drummond ; Amherstburg,
under Captain Hector McLean ; Fort Eriey under Captain Wilkin-
son ; Fort Chippewa, under Lieutenant William Crawford.

In 1800 a suggestion appears to have been made that it would
be of advantage if the Second Battalion, R. C. V., would extend its
service to any part of British America, and Colonel Macdonell hav-
ing submitted the matter to the officers under his command, was
enabled to address the following letter to the Officer commanding in
Canada:

“ForT GEORGE, February 2o, 1800.
¢ SIR,

“ T have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 26th November, with enclosures.

“ The suggestion that the services of the Second Battalion Royal
Canadian Volunteers might be usefully extended to the different
parts of British North America in general was no sooner made
known to the five companies forming the garrison in this post, Fort
Erie, and Fort Chippewa than they were most cheerfully offered,
and generally showed a desire to extend them to any part of His
Majesty’s dominions.

“ The officers (as might be expected from such Loyalists) ex-
pressed satisfaction at having an opportunity of testifying their zeal
and attachment to their King by tendering their services in any
part of the globe to which they might have the honour of being called. -
I shall have the honour of reporting to you as soon as possible the
sentiments of the other four companies at Kingston, Amhersthurg,
and St. Joseph. I think, however, I can vouch that their zeal to His
Majesty’s service is not less than the companies I have already
mentioned. The example of the Nova Scotia and New Brunswick
Corps is certainly highly meritorious, and would no doubt operate
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strongly in exciting an emulation in others ; but I have the vanity to
believe that the Second Battalion of Royal Canadian Volunteers
would have offered their services even had the other Provincial
Corps not shown the example.

“1 have the honour to be,

£ASig!
“ Your most obedient servant,

“J. MACDONELL.
“To Lieutenant-General Hunter,
“ Commanding His Majesty’s Forces in both Canadas.”

The offer of service which Colonel Macdonell was thus author-
ized to make on behalf of his Battalion was acknowledged by H.
R. H. the Duke of Kent in the following letters :

Extract from letter of the Duke of Kent to Lieutenant-General
Hunter, commanding the Forces in the Canadas, through his Aide-
de-Camp, Major Gordon :—

“ KENSINGTON PALACE, DECEMBER 15, 1800.

“With respect to your letter of the 26th of July, containing an
enclosure from Lieutenant-Colonel Macdonell, commanding the
Second Battalion Royal Canadian Volunteers, of the four companies
of that Corps stationed at Kingston and Amherstburg, to extend
their services as Fencibles throughout British America, I am
commanded to desire that the thanks of His Royal Highness may be
communicated to those four companies for this fresh mark of their
zeal for the service and attachment and loyalty to their Sovereign.”

Extract from a letter from the Duke of Kent to Lieutenant-
General Hunter :—

“ PaviLLION, Brightelmstone, October 25th, 1800.
“SIR,

“I have the pleasure to acknowledge the receipt of your letter
No. 12, dated York, July 25, which reached me together with its
several enclosures on the 25th ult.

“Your letter of the 26th of July to Major Gorden enclosing
Lieutenant-Colonel Macdonell’s report that four more companies of
the Second Battalion of the Royal Canadian Volunteers had
volunteered the extension of their services to the whole of British
North America haviag arrived at the same time, I am enabled to
desire you to authorize that officer te express to the officers and men
of those companies my thanks in the same manner as he was desired
to do to those of the former five.

“ EDWARD.”
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Colonel Macdonell was obliged to adhere steadily to his post
from the first raising of the Regiment, as appears from a letter ad-
. dressed by him to the Military Secretary at Quebec dated September
1, 1800

“Not having it in my power to examine into the state of the
Militia of the County of Glengarry, nor of my private affairs since
the first raising of the Royal Canadian Volunteers, I take the liberty
to request of Lieutenant-General Hunter leave of absence for a few
weeks for those purposes.

“Captain McMillan has requested me to apply for leave of
absence for him on private affairs in Glengarry, he not having been
absent since he first joined.”

This Regiment was, together with many others, and including
all the Fencible Regiments in the service, disbanded during the
Peace of Amiens in 1802.

The following is the return on the reduction showing the names
of the officers of this Battalion, with their respective length and
record of service :—

RETURN OF THE OFFICERS OF THE SECOND BATTALION ROYAL
CANADIAN VOLUNTEER REGIMENT OF FOOT.

Rank. Name. Service.

Lieut.-Col.|]John Macdonellj15 years and 4 months ; 3 years and 2
months late 84th Regiment; 5 years
and 10 months late Butler’s Rangers,
and 6 years and 4 months Royal C. V.
Major Hazelton Spen-|12 years and 6 months ; 11 months with
cer the incorporated Loyalists; 3 years 5
months and 2 days as Volunteer in
K.R.R.N.Y.; 2 years 7 months and 4
days as Lieutenant in said Corps, and
. 5 years and 7 months in the 2nd Batt.
Royal Canadian Volunteers.
Captain  [PeterDrummond h

e Hector Mcl.ean|14 years and 5 months; g years Lieut.
in late 84th Regiment and 5 years and
5 months in R. C. Volunteers.
“« Neil McLean [ro years and 3 months; 6 years Lieut.
and Ensign in 84th, and 4 years and 8
months in R. C. V.
e Miles Macdonell|8 years ; 2 years Ensign in K.R.R.N.
Y.,and 6 years in R.C.V.
4 Richard Wilkin-
son 13 years; 8 years Lieut. in K.R.R.N.

Y. and 4 years and 5 months in R.C.V.




95

Rank, Name. Service.

Captain  [Alex. McMillan. |11 years; 7 years in 1st Batt. de Lan-
cie’s Brigade, and 6 months as. Volun-
teer in the late 71st, and 4 years in the
2nd Batt. R.C.V.

i Chassegras  de|r years ¢ months,
Lery
& Richard Fergu-lg years and 5 months ; 3 years in King’s
son Rangers as Volunteer and 6 years and
5 months in R.C.V.
Lieut. William Fraser
& Wm. Crawford |8 years and 2 months; 2 years and 9
monthsasVolunteerandEnsigninK.R.R,
N.Y.,and 5 years and 5 months in R.C. V.,
“ H. de Hortell.
“ Wm. Johnson.
4 Ranald McDon-[32 years and 7 months; 6 years and
ell 6 months in 17th Regt.; 12 years in
6oth; 8 years and 4 months in late 84th,
and 5 years and ¢ months in the 2nd
Batt. R.C.V.
5 Angus McDonell|6 years.
i’ Thomas Fraser |5 years.
¢ P. Taschereau |4 years and 3 months.
! Pierre Malhoit |3 years and 10 months.
4 J. B. Duchesnay |4 years and 6 months.
Ensign  [Pierre Boucher-
ville 4 years and z months,
“ William Dean
4 Peter Grant 3 years and 11 months and 1 day,
& Geo. Ermatinger|3 years and 11 months.
4 Chas. Laninier |2 years.
“ Jos. Bordwine |3 years and 10 months,
¥ Robt. Wolsey |3 years and 4 months.
W Stephen McKay|3 years and 3 months.
& Frederick Deanei3 years and 3 months.
g Jos. Chenique |1 year and 6 months.
Chaplain |Jos. Duval 4 years.
Adjutant |John Crampton |23 years; 7 years and 8 months in the
W the 69th, and 11 years and 10 months in
6oth, and 4 years in the 2nd Batt. R.C.V.

Q.-Master [And. Cameron |4 years.

Surgeon  |James Davidson|8 years and 6 months; 4 years and 6
months in the late 84th, and 4 years in
IRIE:V 2

As't. Surg.|Cyrus Anderson|6 years ; 4 years in 2nd Batt. R.C.V.,,

IBatt. K.RR.N.Y.

and 2 years as Volunteer in the rst
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The names of the First (Lower Canadian) Battalion may fiot be
uninteresting. The officers were for the most part representatives of
the most distinguished families of the King’s new subjects :

FIRST BATTALION R. C. V. REGIMENT OF FOOT.

Lieutenant-Colonel—J. De Longueuil.
Major—Louis De Salaberry.

Captains.
Defaunier Beaubien. Louvigny Montigny.
Francois Piedmont. Francois Vassal.
Pierre Marcoux. J. Bte. D’Estimauville.
C. S. De Bleury. Richard Ferguson.
Lieutenants,
Dantel Dupre. Hipolite Hertelle.
Peter .Duchoquet. Pierre Bazin.
A. J. Duchesnay. Henry Hay.
Joseph De Beaujeu. Joseph Bouchette.
C. G. Lanaudiere. Benjamin Jobert.
Ensigns.
Louis Montizambert. Robert Anderson.
Honore Baille. Francois Duval.
Antoine Lanaudiere. Denis Alexander.
Richard Hay. M. R. de Salaberry.
Francois Boucher. J. B. Ph. D’Estimauville.

Chaplain—Salter Mountain.
Adjutant—Robert Anderson.
Quarter-Master—Louis Fromenteau.
Surgeon—]James Walker.
Mate—Henry Leodel.

Hugh Macdonell, M.P. for Glengarry, and subsequently Consul-
General at Algiers, was at one time Senior Captain in the First Bat-
talion R. C. V. It is worthy of note that, judging from the names,
the Chaplain of the Upper Canada Battalion was a Catholic priest,
while the Reverend Salter Mountain was a Church of England
clergyman. .

The following memorial was addressed by Colonel Macdonell
to the Comimander of the Forces in Canada on the reduction of
the Regiment:

“To His Fxcellency Peter Hunter, Fsq., Lieutenant-General com-
manding His Majesty’s Forces in Upper and Lower Canada.

“ The memorial of the Field Officers, Captains and Subalterns

of the Sccond Ba talion of His Majesty’s Regiment of Royal Cana-
dian Volunteers most respectfully sheweth ;
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¥ That whilst your memorialists view with unfeigned satisfaction
the general happiness afforded by the restoration of peace, they cans
not on that occasion reflect without emotion upon the particular
circumstances of their own situation.

“That a very considerable proportion of your memorialists had
the honour to serve His Majesty during the American War, and
having at the conclusion of it settled upon and cultivated the lands
assigned to them, were beginning to reap some of the fruits of their
exertions, and with the assistance of their half-pay to enjoy some
degree of ease and comfort when the War broke out ; and that the
rest of your memorialists are sons to persons of the Very same
description.

“ That as the appearances of things at that time indicated but a
short period of service, your memorialists eagerly embraced the
opportunity of evincing their grateful attachment to their Sovereign
without contemplating any other reward than the appointments of
their respective rank, and with no prospects but of soon returning to
that life of industry on which their principal dependence was
necessarily placed—both for present support and for the means of
future provision for their families.

*“ That the destructive ambition of His Majesty’s enemies hav-
ing, contrary to all expectations, protracted the War to such a
length, your memorialists have now remained embodied nearly eight
years ; the consequence has been that the domestic affairs of your
memorialists of the first description have in that long interval of
absence and unavoidable neglect been materially impaired, and they
will now be obliged (unless His Majesty’s gracious favour be extend-
ed to them) to return to their homes at a more advanced period in
life and with prospects less favourable both for themselves and their
families than when the War began. Your memorialists of the latter
description are involved in a still more gloomy situation, for having
dedicated the flower of their years to a military life, and having
passed in His Majesty’s service that period of their lives during
which they might have embraced other professions, unless some pro-
vision be made for them by the munificence of their Sovereign,
having no resources of their own, it is painful to foresee the hard-
ships and difficulties which must await them ;

“ Your memorialists therefore most humbly pray of Your Excel-
lency that you will lay them at His Majesty’s feet, beseeching him
that he will be graciously pleased to place them upon the half-pay
list according to the rank which they at present hold in his service.

“ And that His Majesty will also be graciously pleased to extend
to the Battalion the same gracious bounty in donations of waste
of the Crown which was extended to the Provincial Corps at the
end of the American War—a measure which, besides filling the
hearts of your memorialists with additional gratitude, would at the
same time place at the disposal and within the immediate call of His
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Majesty’s representatives in this Province a body of loyal disciplined
men, attached to the country, and proud of transmitting their own
principles and sentiments unimpaired to their posterity, and your
memorialists as in duty bound will ever pray.

“J. MACDONELL,
¢ Lieutenant-Colonel,
¢ Commanding Second Battalion Royal Canadian Volunteers,

“ For himself and on behalf of the officers and men of the Corps.

“ Fort George, 24 August, 1802.”

It is evident from the statement in the memorial of Mrs. Hugh
Macdonell, quoted hereafter, that the prayer of the officers to be
placed on half-pay according to their respective rank was not acced-
ed to, but from information gathered in the Crown Lands Office I am
led to believe that the men received an allotment of land similar to
that granted to the soldiers of the various Loyalist Regiments of the
Revolutionary War.

In addition to being a member for the County of Glengarry,
Colonel Macdonell occupied a position which existed certainly
between the years 1793 and 1808, though I can find no lists of a
later date than the latter year, viz., Lieutenant of the County of
Glengarry. The Duke de la Rochefoucault Liancourt who visited
General Simcoe at York, in his ¢ Travels through the United States,
the Country of the Iroquois and Upper Canada,” gives a succinct
account of the duties of Lieutenants of Counties and of the militia
organization of the Province. He states that the division of the then
four existing districts of the Province into counties :

“Is purely military, and relates merely to the enlisting, completing
and assembling of the militia. The Counties are about twelve in
number.”(1) The militia of each county are assembled and com-
manded by a lieutenant : they must be divided into regiments and
companies. They assemble once a year in each county, and are
inspected by the captains of the different companies at least twice a
year. Every male inhabitant is considered a militia man from the
age of sixteen to fifty. He is fined $4 if he does not enlist at the
proper time ; and officers, both commissioned and non-commissioned,
who do not join their regiments at the time the militia is assembled pay
a fine, the former of $8 and the latter of $2. An officer who, in case
of insurrection or an attack, should not repair to his assigned post,
would be punished in a pecuniary penalty of £50, and a petty officer
with a fine of £20. A militia man who sells either the whole or a
part of his arms, ammunition or accoutrements is fined £5, and in
default of payment imprisoned for two months. The Quakers, Bap-

(1) As a fact, however, there were wineteen,
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tists and Tunkers pay, in times of peace, twenty shillings a year, and
during a war or insurrection five pounds sterling for their exemption
from military service. Out of these fines and ransoms, the Adjutant-
General of the Militia receives his pay and the remainder is at the
Governor’s disposal.  This is nearly the substance of the first Act of
the Legislative body of Upper Canada, passed in 1793.”

The following year a further Act was passed relating to the
militia, tending to improve and more accurately define the internal
form of the Regiments, Battalions and Companies, and to render the
assembling of detachments more easy and expeditious. It extended,
in time of War, the obligation to bear arms to sixty years, and
directed that Quakers and others who were exempt should pay for
their immunity up to that age. It obliged the militia to serve on
board of ships and vessels, to act as cavalry and to extend their
service beyond the Province, on condition, however, that the same
men should not be bound to serve more than six months successively.
The exemptions from service were confined to the officers of justice
and other public functionaries, whose number was very small. The
whole militia force was estimated at 9,000 men, and the cost of
maintenance was defrayed by the British Government. The expense
of civil and military administration, including money and presents to
the Indians, was then, for Upper Canada, about £100,000 per
annum.

Dr. Canniff states, in his « Settlement of Upper Canada,” that
“in all the measures introduced by Governor Simcoe and passed into
law by Parliament can be discovered a military mind actively at
work. The arrangements by which he endeavoured to settle the
country, to secure it against invasion, to keep alive a spirit of mili-
tary ardour, to keep aglow the flame of patriotism, a love for the
Mother Country, were eminently judicious and commendable. There
is no doubt that the military spirit of Simcoe was pleasing to the old
soldier-farmers, and in them he found willing and zealous abettors of
his military schemes.”(1)

I have lists of Lieutenants of Counties of the years 1803 and
1808. I give that for the year 1803, which is the earliest I am able
to find. It is taken from the Upper Canada Almanac of that year,
published at York by John Bennet at his printing office, King street :

(1) Page 546.
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Glengarry—Lieutenant-Colonel John Macdonell.

Prescott—William Fortune, Esq.

Stormont—Archibald Macdonell, Esq.

Dundas—The Honourable Richard Duncan, Esq.

Grenville—Peter Drummond, Esq.

Leeds— James Brakenridge, Esq.

Frontenac—The Hon. Richard Cartwright.

Lennox—Hazelton Spencer, Esq.

Addington—William Johnson, Esq.

Hastings—John Ferguson, Esq.

Prince Edward—Archibald Macdonell, Esq., of Marysburg.

Northumberland—Alexander Chlsholm, Esq.

Durham—Robert Baldwin, Esq.

York—The Honourable D. W. Smith, Esq.

Lincoln—The Hon. Robert Hamilton, Esq.

Norfolk—Samuel Ryerse, Esq.

Oxford—William Claus, Esq.

Essex—The Honourable Alexander Grant, Esq.

Kent—The Honourable James Baby, Esq.

It will be observed that several of these gentlemen had pre-
viously held commissions in Colonel Macdonell’s Regiment. All of
them were at the time in command of the militia regiments of their
respective counties, except in the case of the Counties of Dundas,
Grenyille, Leeds and Essex, where the militia regiments were com-
manded by Lieutenant-Colonel Allan Macdonell, Colonel William
Fraser, Colonel Joel Stone and Lieutenaut-Colonel John Asken, re-
spectively.

In 1807 Colonel Macdonell proposed the formation of a Corps
of Glengarry Fencibles, and the following correspondence took place
between himself and Colonel (afterwards Major-General Sir Isaac)
Brock and the War Office :

“ GLENGARRY, January 28, 1807.
¢ SIR,

T have the honour to enclose you the proposals for raising a
corps of Highland Fencibles in this County, which were submitted
to your perusal. The alterations you made are adopted with very
few exceptions: should they meet with yourapprobation, you will be
pleased to forward them to the War Office.
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